
REGULAR AGENDA #34
FAIRFIELD COUNTY COMMISSIONERS' OFFICE

AUGUST 26, 2025

AGENDA FOR TUESDAY, AUGUST 26, 2025

 

3:00 PM Review 

Regular Meeting 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Announcements 

Approval of Minutes for August 19, 2025 

Fairfield County Board of Commissioners 

2025-08.26.a A resolution authorizing certifying Drainage Maintenance Districts to the 
Fairfield County Auditor’s Office. [Commissioners] 

Fairfield County Auditor- Finance 

2025-08.26.b A Resolution Approving an Account-to-Account Transfer into a Major 
Expenditure Object Category –1001 – General Fund - Auditor  [Auditor- Finance] 

Fairfield County Board of Developmental Disabilities  

2025-08.26.c A Resolution Approving an Account-to-Account Transfer into a Major 
Expenditure Object Category –2060, FCBDD  [Board of Developmental Disabilities] 

2025-08.26.d A Resolution to Appropriate from Unappropriated in a Major Expenditure 
Object Category for Fairfield County Board of DD; Fund #2060, FCBDD

 [Board 
of Developmental Disabilities] 

Fairfield County Board of Elections 

2025-08.26.e A resolution to appropriate from unappropriated in a major expenditure 
object category for Fund #2861 Cyber Security Secretary of State- Board of 
Elections [Board of Elections] 

Fairfield County Engineer 

2025-08.26.f A resolution to change bridge load ratings. [Engineer] 

Fairfield County Facilities 

2025-08.26.g A Resolution to Approve the Contract Bid Award for the Payment 
Drive-Thru Renovation Project with Buena Environmental, LLC. [Facilities] 

 

 

http:///Services/Downloads.ashx?id=19648&type=resolution
http:///Services/Downloads.ashx?id=19640&type=resolution
http:///Services/Downloads.ashx?id=19631&type=resolution
http:///Services/Downloads.ashx?id=19632&type=resolution
http:///Services/Downloads.ashx?id=19630&type=resolution
http:///Services/Downloads.ashx?id=19639&type=resolution
http:///Services/Downloads.ashx?id=19635&type=resolution


 

Fairfield County Family and Children First Council 

2025-08.26.h A resolution to request for appropriations for Fund #7521 Family and 
Children First Council (FCFC).  [Family and Children First Council] 

Fairfield County Job and Family Services 

2025-08.26.i A Resolution regarding an amendment for a previously approved Network 
Placement and Related Services Agreement between Family Wellness Solutions, Inc. 
and Child Protective Services Department. [JFS] 

2025-08.26.j A resolution to approve a memo exp./ memo receipt for the costs of Birth 
Certificates paid to Fairfield County Health Departments as a memo expenditure for 
fund# 2072 Public Children’s Services. [JFS] 

2025-08.26.k A resolution authorizing the approval of the Fairfield County Prevention, 
Retention and Contingency Plan (PRC Plan) between Fairfield County Job & Family 
Services and the Ohio Department of Job and Family Services.  [JFS] 

Fairfield County Prosecutor 

2025-08.26.l A resolution approving a Fund to Fund transfer from the Prosecutor's 
Local Match Allocation to Fund 2784. [Prosecutor] 

Fairfield County Sheriff 

2025-08.26.m A Resolution Approving an Account-to-Account Transfer into a Major 
Expenditure Object Category –23100101, General Fund  [Sheriff] 

Payment of Bills 

2025-08.26.n A resolution authorizing the approval of payment of invoices for 
departments that need Board of Commissioners’ approval.  [Commissioners] 

The next Regular Meeting is scheduled for Thursday, September 4, 
2025, 10:00 a.m. 

Adjourn 

http:///Services/Downloads.ashx?id=19644&type=resolution
http:///Services/Downloads.ashx?id=19641&type=resolution
http:///Services/Downloads.ashx?id=19638&type=resolution
http:///Services/Downloads.ashx?id=19642&type=resolution
http:///Services/Downloads.ashx?id=19636&type=resolution
http:///Services/Downloads.ashx?id=19637&type=resolution
http:///Services/Downloads.ashx?id=19643&type=resolution


Regular Meeting #33 - 2025 
Fairfield County Commissioners’ Office 

August 19, 2025 
 
 
 

Regular Meeting #33 - 2025 – August 19, 2025 - 1 - 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Review Meeting 
 
The Commissioners met at 9:00 a.m. in the Commissioners’ Hearing Room located at 210 E. Main 
St., Lancaster, OH. Commissioner Fix called the meeting to order, and the following 
Commissioners were present: Jeff Fix, Steve Davis and David Levacy. Also present: County 
Administrator, Aundrea Cordle; Deputy County Administrator, Jeff Porter; Commissioners’ Clerk, 
Rochelle Menningen; Information and Communications Coordinator, Bennett Niceswanger; 
Auditor, Dr. Carri Brown; Utilities Director, Tony Vogel; JFS Director, Corey Clark; EMA & 
Facilities Director, Jon Kochis; IT Director, Dan Neeley; ADAMH Executive Director, Marcy 
Fields; ADMAH Grant Coordinator, Dylan Sanders; ADAMH Program and Quality Manager, 
Miranda Gray; Interim RPC Director, Holly Mattei; Economic & Workforce Development 
Director, Rick Szabrak; Urban Technician, Chad Lucht; Deputy, Kevin Romine; Assistant 
Prosecuting Attorney, Steven Darnell; FCFC Manager, Tiffany Wilson; Fairfield County OSU 
Extension Manager, Shannon Carter. Also in attendance: Chris Snider and Ray Stemen.  
 
Virtual Attendees: Ashley Arter, Joe Ebel, Cale Burke, Shannon Ward, Toni Ashton, Baylie 
Blevins, BGM, Alex Lape, Lisa, Ralph, Lori Lovas, Mariluz Maldonado, Michael Navin, Deborah, 
Jessica Murphy, David Uhl, Lynette Barnhart, Nathan Hall, Jared Collins, Shelby Hunt, Jeff 
Barron, Michael Kaper, Stacy Hicks, Anthony Iachini, Andy Robberts, Britney Lee, Jennifer 
Morgan, Jason Grubb, Josh Horacek, Lisa McKenzie, and Holly Lybrook.  
 
Welcome 
 
Commissioner Fix opened the meeting by welcoming everyone in attendance.  
 
ADAMH Opioid Settlement Funding Conversation 
 
Miranda Gray, Fairfield County ADAMH Program and Quality Manager, shared a presentation on 
Recovery Community Organizations (RCO). She spoke about the principals and strategies of an 
RCO and how they are led by Peer Recovery Support (PRS) individuals. People receiving PRS 
services often experience improved relationships, increased treatment retention, housing stability, 
decreased criminal justice involvement, and reduced substance use. Ms. Gray spoke about a 1950’s 
experiment called, “The Power of Hope and Resilience Project”. The project demonstrated how 
an animal would continue to survive as long as it still felt there was hope. Survival through hope 
can lead to community leadership with the help of an RCO and a PRS. A PowerPoint included in 
the minutes provides some examples of RCOs, statistics and programs of current RCOs, and the 
social enterprise and sustainability of the organizations. 
   
Cale Burke, Senior Project Manager for the first RCO in Appalachia Ohio, Southeast Ohio Hope 
Center, joined the meeting virtually. He stated he grew up in a group home and would not be where 
he is if not for long-term recovery. He spoke about a continuum of care and the importance of 
getting someone in recovery past the first 24 months after treatment. 
 
Miranda Gray spoke about events and the economic and social contributions that RCOs bring to a 
community. The Yellow Balloon Project provides a safe place for those in recovery at events. 
Yellow ballons indicate a save space to meet and interact. Ms. Gray stated that RCOs have different 
funding streams and that an investment in recovery is an investment in community. 
 
Commissioner Fix thanked Ms. Gray and Mr. Burk for presenting and asked if there was a current 
request. 
 



Regular Meeting #33 - 2025 
Fairfield County Commissioners’ Office 

August 19, 2025 
 
 
 

Regular Meeting #33 - 2025 – August 19, 2025 - 2 - 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Aundrea Cordle stated she had invited ADAMH to share options. She added that she had been in 
conversations with Jeff Porter regarding community needs. 
 
Commissioner Davis asked if there are timing requirements associated with the Opioid funds. 
 
Aundrea Cordle stated there are no timing requirements but that there are use restrictions. 
 
Commissioner Davis stated the approach for the RCO, the sustainability of future operations, and 
operational support would all need to be considered. He stated he would also like to see the idea 
structured with a cost timeline. 
 
Miranda Gray stated that ADAMH often hears that there is nothing for individuals to get involved 
in after they receive treatment. 
 
Commissioner Levacy asked which treatment management was the most difficult to maintain.  
 
Miranda Gray answered that it is contingency management, which is a system of reward for 
sobriety. She added that individuals are welcome no matter what substance they are recovering 
from, with the RCO.  
 
Commissioner Levacy stated his support for an RCO. 
 
Commissioner Fix also stated his support and added that the Board would continue to advocate for 
prevention. 
 
Marcy Fields stated the recovery community is also supportive of awareness and prevention. 
 
Commissioner Davis asked if there is evidence of adverse consequences for marijuana use. 
 
Miranda Gray replied that the ADAMH board believes there is but does not have the evidence yet. 
 
Cale Burk added the RCO is more of a clubhouse model and not really a drop in model which 
makes it self-policing. 
 
National Center for State Courts Presentation 
 
Mari Maldonado, Nathan Hall, and Michael Navin from the National Center for State Courts 
presented virtually. Nathan Hall spoke about a court based need assessment for Fairfield County 
and explained that the National Center for State Courts is a non-profit agency that helps with 
courthouse design, security, and planning. The agency has completed over 300 assessments in 
Ohio.  
 
Mari Maldonado provided a presentation about the project background, scope, timeline, and next 
steps for a project and added that the county’s courthouse was finished in the early 1970s. 
 
Commissioner Davis stated that he had understood that the agency was just assessing the 
courthouse. 
 
Nathan Hall replied that the data is not predetermined.  
 
Commissioner Davis stated that the Board does not know what the current needs are and they are 
supportive of an assessment but are sensitive to any preordained conclusion. 



Regular Meeting #33 - 2025 
Fairfield County Commissioners’ Office 

August 19, 2025 
 
 
 

Regular Meeting #33 - 2025 – August 19, 2025 - 3 - 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Mari Maldonado stated that the project scope would analyze growth and building space and would 
provide visual concepts. The project timeline would take 24 weeks from start to the final report.  
 
Michael Navin spoke about assessing the long-term needs based on the  county’s population and 
analyzing the historical case filing trends. 
 
Mari Maldonado added there are four things being assessed regarding operational issues including 
adjudication, administration, public access, and sustainability. 
 
Commissioner Davis stated that during the Commissioners collective history a jail was built, and 
operational efficiency was promised, and any new plan promising efficiency should be accurate. 
 
Nathan Hall stated that the National Center for State Courts would provide some best practices 
and that they are aware that not one size fits all. The agency will provide proposals for space that 
can change over time and facilities that can change with technology. He added that they will want 
to hear and understand the county’s experience with the jail to ensure there are no parallels. 
 
Mari Maldonado added that they would develop a court space program with conceptual blocking 
and stacking of courtrooms and chambers. 
 
Nathan Hall added that they are not designing but showing design trends. He stated they have seen 
that not all courthouses are secure. Courthouses are unique and there are some contentious things 
that happen in courthouses. We are looking at best practices. 
 
Mari Maldonado stated that “next steps” would include review and analysis, facility tours, 
preliminary projections, and developing a preliminary space program. 
 
Commissioner Fix thanked the presenters and added that the Board is not comfortable with being 
so far down the path that conclusions are being determined. 
 
Commissioner Levacy stated that he looks forward to the completed assessment. 
 
Jon Kochis stated the goal is to see how to organize, be more efficient, and design better. He added 
that he would like to use the tool to be safer and more customer friendly and that he would be 
present when the National Center for State Courts is onsite. 
 
OSU Extension Update 
 
Shannon Carter, OSU Extension Educator and Consumer Sciences Area Leader, spoke on the 
SNAP education program and the effects from federal and state budget changes. She added that 
SNAP Ed is a national program and in Ohio the funds come from the Ohio Farm Bill and are 
funneled through JFS. OSU Extension has two-¾ time SNAP assistance staff. It is a bit of a shock 
for the Extension that the program is no longer funded. In 2024, OSU Extension worked with 
10.000 youth and adults through health fairs, farm markets, and educational materials. When the 
Extension learned the program would no longer be funded, they reached out to the state. Ms. Carter 
stated she now administers 7 counties and when the SNAP ED program ends, two of the 
Extensions’ staff will lose their jobs. She added she will be actively seeking funding.  
 
Commissioner Davis stated the county does not know what cuts are coming from the state and 
federal government. Some legislation has already been passed and some threatened. He 
commended her for her approach to the situation. 



Regular Meeting #33 - 2025 
Fairfield County Commissioners’ Office 

August 19, 2025 
 
 
 

Regular Meeting #33 - 2025 – August 19, 2025 - 4 - 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Commissioner Fix added that the Board appreciates that she is getting ahead of the issue. 
 
Shannon Carter replied that the grant had a carry-over and JFS released that carry-over, extending 
the program into November. 
 
Commissioner Fix stated the Boards support of the Extensions programs and efforts. 
 
Public Comments 
 
Ray Stemen of Lancaster spoke about the use of the word “hope” in the earlier presentation and 
added that hope without faith will not work.   
 
Legal Update 
 
There was no legal update. 
 
County Administration Update 

 
- The County Administration Update was provided by County Administrator, Aundrea 

Cordle, unless otherwise indicated. 
 

Week in Review 
 
Commission Meetings 

 
The meeting schedule in the coming weeks has some variations of note: 

• Employee Recognition event to follow today’s meeting at 11:30 a.m. 
• August 26 - Commission Meeting at 3:00 pm 
• September 4 - Commission Meeting at 9:00 am with no meeting on the regular 

day of September 2 
• The week of September 8 – No meeting 

 
       Highlights of Resolutions 

 
Administrative Approvals 

The review packet contains a list of administrative approvals. 
 
Resolution Review 

There are 16 resolutions on the agenda for the Regular voting meeting.  
 
Resolutions of note: 
 

• The Commissioners have a resolution to adjust the meeting times for the October 
28th Review and Regular Meeting and the Budget Hearings. The Review and 
Regular Meeting will begin at 1:00 p.m. and the Budget Hearings will begin at 9:00 
a.m. that day.  

• There is a resolution to authorize the repayment of an advance. This is reimbursing 
the General Fund for $250,000 from the State Energy Grant Fund. 



Regular Meeting #33 - 2025 
Fairfield County Commissioners’ Office 

August 19, 2025 
 
 
 

Regular Meeting #33 - 2025 – August 19, 2025 - 5 - 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• The Airport Authority Board approved a land lease agreement at their meeting on 
August 11th for an annual payment of $191,500. This is a 5-year lease commencing 
January 1, 2026, with an automatic renewal for five subsequent five-year terms. 

• There is a resolution to accept the amounts and rates determined by the Budget 
Commission for the necessary tax levies and authorizes certifying them to the 
County Auditor. 

• The Health Department has a resolution to authorize the submission of the 2026 
CFLP Litter Law Enforcement and Solid Waste Enforcement Grant Application to 
CFLP. 

• Regional Planning has a resolution to establish a Drainage Maintenance District for 
the Sycamore Grove subdivision in Violet Township. 
 

Budget Review 

Budget Director, Bart Hampson, stated that the level three budget entry access for general 
fund departments will end soon. 

Calendar Review/Invitations Received 

- Provided by the Clerk to the Fairfield County Board of Commissioners, Rochelle 
Menningen 
 
• Fairfield County Ag Update, August 20, 2025, 11:30 a.m., Fairfield County 

Agricultural Center, 831 College Ave., Lancaster 
• CCAO Summer Symposium, August 25, 2025, 7:30 a.m.-8:00 p.m., and August 

26, 2025, 7:30 a.m.-12:00 p.m., Hocking Hills State Park Lodge & Conference 
Center, 20020 State Route 664 S., Logan 

• Kingsbury Senior Living Grand Opening, August 27, 2025, 11:00 a.m., 1572 
Timbertop St., Lancaster 

• Lancaster-Fairfield Community Action Agency Annual Dinner, September 18, 
2025, Auction – 5:00 p.m., Dinner – 6:15 p.m., Alley Park Lodge, 2805 Old 
Logan Rd. SE, Lancaster 
 

Correspondence 

- Provided by the Clerk to the Fairfield County Board of Commissioners, Rochelle 
Menningen 
 
• Lancaster City Council Public Hearing Notice, September 22, 2025, 6:30 p.m., 

Council Chambers, 111 S. Borad St., Property Map Amendment of 163.434 +/- 
Acres from Greenfield Township to the City of Lancaster 

• Fairfield County Municipal Court, Criminal/Traffic Division Fee Report, July 
2025 

• Birge and Held Development, JDS Communities, July 24, 2025, Notice of 
Sycamore Ridge Affordable Housing Development, Project Address: 450 Ety Rd., 
Lancaster 



Regular Meeting #33 - 2025 
Fairfield County Commissioners’ Office 

August 19, 2025 
 
 
 

Regular Meeting #33 - 2025 – August 19, 2025 - 6 - 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Marian Development Group and Vivera Fairfield GP, LLC, July 21, 2025, Notice 
of Development of Senior Assisted Living Facility, Project Address: 0 Slocum 
Ave., Lancaster 
 

Updates from Elected Officials and Department Heads 
 
Tiffany Wilson stated the Family and Children First Council will have a family resource guide that 
will be distributed soon.   
 
Chad Lucht spoke on the upcoming DEA drug take-back and tech equipment drop-off.  
 
Auditor Brown stated her office continues to conduct informal hearings with residents and has 
received positive feedback. Her office is working to update the property tax cards to show the 
breakdown by levy. She spoke about payroll changes related to the Big Beautiful Bill Act, 
information provided in her weekly memo, information distributed by her office in the 
“Wednesday Word to the Wise” and announced that she will be receiving the 2025 Excellence in 
Government Achievement Award.  
 
Commissioner Fix congratulated Auditor Brown on the award. 
 
Commissioner Davis asked if it would be beneficial to look at federal, state, and local funding 
to see whether the appropriations aligned with the funding are mandated or discretionary.  
 
Auditor Brown stated that those conversations have happened in the past, and that sometimes local 
priorities do not always align with mandated expenses. 
 
Rick Szabrak stated that the Workforce Center will hold parent-student meetings for the pre-
apprenticeship program and added he hopes that all school districts will participate again this year.  
 
Commissioner Fix offered his deep appreciation for Kenny McDonald, CEO of One Columbus, 
for what he has contributed to central Ohio Mr. McDonald’s presence is not exclusive to the 
Columbus area. 
 
Jon Kochis stated that EMA conducted their storm damage assessment on Thursday. They visited 
each major damaged location and were confident that they met the minimum requirements to 
submit the application.  
 
Commissioner Davis reported rumors that Fairfield County could receive support from FEMA and 
asked if that was factual. 
 
Jon Kochis affirmed that the rumor was incorrect, explaining that FEMA support typically only 
occurs when multiple counties are impacted. 
 
Old Business  
 
Commissioner Davis stated his intent to attend the hearing for the Eastern Cottontail solar 
project. 
 
Commissioner Levacy reported meeting with Congressman Balderson and added he was 
encouraged to hear how much Balderson and his staff appreciate the partnership with Fairfield 
County for their office space at the Fairfield Center in Pickerington.  



Regular Meeting #33 - 2025 
Fairfield County Commissioners’ Office 

August 19, 2025 
 
 
 

Regular Meeting #33 - 2025 – August 19, 2025 - 7 - 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
New Business 
 
None.  
 
Regular (Voting) Meeting 
 
The Commissioners continued to the Regular/Voting portion of the meeting, and the following 
Commissioners were present: Jeff Fix, Steve Davis and David Levacy. Also present: County 
Administrator, Aundrea Cordle; Deputy County Administrator, Jeff Porter; Commissioners’ Clerk, 
Rochelle Menningen; Information and Communications Coordinator, Bennett Niceswanger; 
Auditor, Dr. Carri Brown; Utilities Director, Tony Vogel; JFS Director, Corey Clark; EMA & 
Facilities Director, Jon Kochis; IT Director, Dan Neeley; ADAMH Executive Director, Marcy 
Fields; ADMAH Grant Coordinator, Dylan Sanders; ADAMH Program and Quality Manager, 
Miranda Gray; Interim RPC Director, Holly Mattei; Economic & Workforce Development 
Director, Rick Szabrak; Urban Technician, Chad Lucht; Deputy, Kevin Romine; Assistant 
Prosecuting Attorney, Steven Darnell; FCFC Manager, Tiffany Wilson; Fairfield County OSU 
Extension Manager, Shannon Carter. Also in attendance: Chris Snider and Ray Stemen.  
 
Virtual Attendees: Ashley Arter, Joe Ebel, Cale Burke, Shannon Ward, Toni Ashton, Baylie 
Blevins, BGM, Alex Lape, Lisa, Ralph, Lori Lovas, Mariluz Maldonado, Michael Navin, Deborah, 
Jessica Murphy, David Uhl, Lynette Barnhart, Nathan Hall, Jared Collins, Shelby Hunt, Jeff 
Barron, Michael Kaper, Stacy Hicks, Anthony Iachini, Andy Robberts, Britney Lee, Jennifer 
Morgan, Jason Grubb, Josh Horacek, Lisa McKenzie, and Holly Lybrook.  
 
Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Commissioner Fix asked everyone to rise as able and lead the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Announcements 
  
None 
 
Approval of Minutes for August 12, 2025 
 
On the motion of David Levacy and the second of Steve Davis, the Board of Commissioners 
voted to approve the Minutes for Tuesday, August 12, 2025, meeting. 
 
Roll call vote of the motion resulted as follows:  
Voting aye thereon: David Levacy, Steve Davis and Jeff Fix 
 
Approval of Resolutions from the Fairfield County Commissioners 
 
On the motion of David Levacy and the second of Jeff Fix, the Board of Commissioners voted to 
approve the following resolutions from the Fairfield County Commissioners: 
 

2025-08.19.a  A Resolution Amending Resolutions 2024-12.03.a, 2025-04.22.a, 2025-
06.24.a, 2025-07.29.a, and 2025-08.05.a, Establishing the Fairfield County 
Board of Commissioners’ 2025 Review Session and Regular Meeting 
Dates, and Special Meeting Dates  

 



Regular Meeting #33 - 2025 
Fairfield County Commissioners’ Office 

August 19, 2025 
 
 
 

Regular Meeting #33 - 2025 – August 19, 2025 - 8 - 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2025-08.19.b  A resolution authorizing the approval of repayment of an advance to the 
General Fund from the State Energy Program Grant Fund# 3904.  

 
2025-08.19.c  A resolution to approve the land lease agreement with the Fairfield County 

Airport Authority Board  
 
2025-08.19.d  A resolution accepting the amounts and rates as determined by the 

Fairfield County Budget Commission and authorizing the necessary tax 
levies and certifying them to the County Auditor 

 
Roll call vote of the motion resulted as follows:  
Voting aye thereon: David Levacy, Jeff Fix and Steve Davis 
 
Approval of Resolutions from the Fairfield County Board of Developmental Disabilities 
 
On the motion of David Levacy and the second of Steve Davis, the Board of Commissioners voted 
to approve the following resolutions from the Fairfield County Board of Developmental 
Disabilities: 

 
2025-08.19.e  A resolution to approve a reimbursement for share of costs for Ethernet 

Services paid to AT&T as a memo expenditure for fund# 2060 - Fairfield 
County Board of Developmental Disabilities  

 
2025-08.19.f  A resolution to approve a memo exp./ memo receipt for the cost of 

transportation for individuals paid to Fairfield County Transit as a memo 
expenditure for fund# 2060 - Fairfield County Board of Developmental 
Disabilities 

 
Roll call vote of the motion resulted as follows:  
Voting aye thereon: David Levacy, Steve Davis and Jeff Fix 
 
Approval of a Resolution from Fairfield County Economic & Workforce Development 
 
On the motion of David Levacy and the second of Steve Davis, the Board of Commissioners voted 
to approve the following resolution from Fairfield County Economic & Workforce Development: 

 
2025-08.19.g  A Resolution to Approve Additional Appropriations by Appropriating 

from Unappropriated into a Major Expense Object Category – 7865, Port 
Authority, and authorizing a fund to fund transfer 

 
Roll call vote of the motion resulted as follows:  
Voting aye thereon: David Levacy, Steve Davis and Jeff Fix 
 
Approval of a Resolution from the Fairfield County Emergency Management Agency 
 
On the motion of David Levacy and the second of Steve Davis, the Board of Commissioners voted 
to approve the following resolution from the Fairfield County Emergency Management Agency: 

 
2025-08.19.h  A resolution to approve a memo expenditure from EMA fund Local 

Emergency Planning Committee 2091 to EMA fund 2090 for agreed 
service. 

 



Regular Meeting #33 - 2025 
Fairfield County Commissioners’ Office 

August 19, 2025 
 
 
 

Regular Meeting #33 - 2025 – August 19, 2025 - 9 - 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Roll call vote of the motion resulted as follows:  
Voting aye thereon: David Levacy, Steve Davis and Jeff Fix 
 
Approval of a Resolution from the Fairfield County Engineer 
 
On the motion of David Levacy and the second of Steve Davis, the Board of Commissioners voted 
to approve the following resolution from the Fairfield County Engineer: 

 
2025-08.19.i  A resolution to appropriate from unappropriated in a major expenditure 

object category County Engineer 2024-Motor Vehicle for contractual 
services 

 
Roll call vote of the motion resulted as follows:  
Voting aye thereon: David Levacy, Steve Davis and Jeff Fix 
 
Approval of a Resolution from the Fairfield County Health Department 
 
On the motion of David Levacy and the second of Steve Davis, the Board of Commissioners voted 
to approve the following resolution from the Fairfield County Health Department: 

 
2025-08.19.j  A resolution approving the submission of the Fiscal Year 2026 CFLP 

Litter Law Enforcement and Solid Waste Enforcement Grant Applications 
to CFLP 

 
Roll call vote of the motion resulted as follows:  
Voting aye thereon: David Levacy, Steve Davis and Jeff Fix 
 
Approval of Resolutions from Fairfield County Job & Family Services 
 
On the motion of David Levacy and the second of Steve Davis, the Board of Commissioners voted 
to approve the following resolutions from Fairfield County Job & Family Services: 

 
2025-08.19.k  A Resolution to Appropriate from Unappropriated in a Major Expenditure 

Object Category for Fairfield County JFS; Fund # 2018, Public Assistance 
Fund  

 
2025-08.19.l  A resolution authorizing the approval of a service agreement by and 

between Fairfield County Job & Family Services, Child Protective 
Services Division and Anchored Immense Movement (AIM)  

 
2025-08.19.m  A resolution for the Purchase of Service Agreement between Job & 

Family Services, Child Protective Services Department and Integrated 
Services for Behavioral Health. 

 
Roll call vote of the motion resulted as follows:  
Voting aye thereon: David Levacy, Steve Davis and Jeff Fix 
 
Approval of a Resolution from the Fairfield County Regional Planning Commission 
 
On the motion of David Levacy and the second of Steve Davis, the Board of Commissioners voted 
to approve the following resolution from the Fairfield County Regional Planning Commission: 

 



Regular Meeting #33 - 2025 
Fairfield County Commissioners’ Office 

August 19, 2025 
 
 
 

Regular Meeting #33 - 2025 – August 19, 2025 - 10 - 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2025-08.19.n  A resolution to Establish a Drainage Maintenance District (DMD) for 
Sycamore Grove Subdivision. 

 
Roll call vote of the motion resulted as follows:  
Voting aye thereon: David Levacy, Steve Davis and Jeff Fix 
 
Approval of a Resolution from the Fairfield County Sheriff 
 
On the motion of David Levacy and the second of Steve Davis, the Board of Commissioners voted 
to approve the following resolution from the Fairfield County Sheriff: 

 
2025-08.19.o  A resolution authorizing the disposal of a vehicle by the Fairfield County 

Sheriff’s Office 
 

Roll call vote of the motion resulted as follows:  
Voting aye thereon: David Levacy, Steve Davis and Jeff Fix 
 
Approval of the Payment of Bills 
 
On the motion of David Levacy and the second of Steve Davis, the Board of Commissioners voted 
to approve the following resolution for the Payment of Bills: 
 

2025-08.19.p  A resolution authorizing the approval of payment of invoices for 
departments that need Board of Commissioners’ approval. 

 
Roll call vote of the motion resulted as follows:  
Voting aye thereon: David Levacy, Steve Davis and Jeff Fix 
 
Adjournment 
 
With no further business, on the motion of David Levacy, and the second of Steve Davis, the 
Board of Commissioners voted to adjourn at 10:28 a.m. 
 
Roll call vote of the motion resulted as follows: 
Voting aye thereon: David Levacy, Steve Davis and Jeff Fix 
 
The next Regular Meeting is scheduled for 3:00 p.m. on Tuesday, August 26, 2025.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Regular Meeting #33 - 2025 
Fairfield County Commissioners’ Office 

August 19, 2025 
 
 
 

Regular Meeting #33 - 2025 – August 19, 2025 - 11 - 
 
 
 
 
 
 

______________________________________________________________________________ 
          
Motion by: David Levacy   Seconded by: Steve Davis 
that the August 19th, 2025, minutes were approved by the following vote: 
 
YEAS: David Levacy, Steve Davis, and Jeff Fix   NAYS: None 
ABSTENTIONS: None 
 
*Approved on August 26, 2025 
 
 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
     Jeff Fix     Steve Davis               David Levacy    
Commissioner    Commissioner    Commissioner  
 
 
____________________________ 
Rochelle Menningen, Clerk 
 
______________________________________________________________________________ 



 
THIS PAGE 

INTENTIONALLY 
LEFT BLANK 

 

 



A resolution authorizing certifying Drainage Maintenance Districts to 
the Fairfield County Auditor’s Office.

WHEREAS, a condition for approval of certain subdivisions by the Fairfield 
County Regional Planning Commission for the establishment of a drainage 
maintenance district pursuant to ORC Section 6131.63, and 

WHEREAS, drainage maintenance districts, waivers of public notice and 
annual assessments were prepared and files for:

Bentwood Farms, Cedar Creek Estates, Chesapeake, Chester Heights, Crist 
Estates, Daysprings, Estates at Lake Forest, Forest Green Estates, Greenfield 
Estates, Groves Ridge, Haaf Farms, Heron Crossing West, Hickory Ridge, 
Lateral A, Meadowmoore Reserve, Oak Creek, Ravines at Tollgate, Rush 
Creek Estates, Saddlebrook Farms, Slate Ridge Estates, South Hampton, 
Spring Creek Southerly, Stone Hill Estates, Views at Pine Hill Estates, Violet 
Meadows, West Buckeye Lake, Winding Creek, Woodstream; and

WHEREAS, the obligation to pay the maintenance fees shall pass with the 
title of the property; and

WHEREAS, the County Auditor requires that all special assessments be 
submitted to the office of the County Auditor;

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
COMMISSIONERS, FAIRFIELD COUNTY, STATE OF OHIO:

Section 1. that the attached drainage maintenance assessments be 
accepted and approved for submittal to the Fairfield County Auditor.

Section 2. that the County Auditor place collection on the property tax 
duplicate.
 
Prepared by: Bart Hampson
              Cc: Auditor’s Office

2025-08.26.a2025-08.26.a















































































































































Signature Page
Resolution No. 2025-08.26.a 

A resolution authorizing certifying Drainage Maintenance Districts to the Fairfield 
County Auditor’s Office. 

(Fairfield County Commissioners)

This resolution has not yet been voted on.

CERTIFICATE OF CLERK
It is hereby certified that the foregoing is a true and correct transcript of a resolution acted 
upon by the Board of County Commissioners, Fairfield County, Ohio on the date noted above. 



A Resolution Approving an Account-to-Account Transfer into a Major 
Expenditure Object Category –1001 – General Fund - Auditor 

WHEREAS, appropriations are needed to cover expenses for 2025 to cover 
an increased cost in Auditor of State – Local Government Services contract 
due to hours increased and to properly reflect the rate increase; and

WHEREAS, the Auditor of State recently released contractual rates effective 
July 1, 2025 which was not considered with the original budget established 
for 2025; and

WHEREAS, an account-to-account transfer will allow proper classification of 
major expenditure object categories.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS, COUNTY OF FAIRFIELD, STATE OF OHIO:

 
Section 1.  That the Fairfield County Board of Commissioners approves the 
transfer of appropriations into a major expenditure object category in the 
amount of $11,000 as follows:

From: 10100100 Fringe Benefits $7,000
10100100 Materials and Supplies $4,000

To:      10100100 Contractual Services

Prepared by: Beverly Hoskinson-Auditor’s Office, Financial Systems Director
cc: Carri L. Brown - Auditor

2025-08.26.b2025-08.26.b



County Auditor Finance Department - Account to Account Transfer Appropriations – 
(1001- General Fund - Auditor)

An appropriation is needed to cover all remaining expenditures for 2025.

An account to account transfer will allow for proper classification in the major Contractual 
Services expenditure object category account. 
                                                                                                                                               

Request the County Auditor to transfer appropriations 

From:

10100100 (org) 526000 (object) Workers Comp  $ 7,000
10100100 (org) 562600 (object) Fuel $ 4,000

To:
10100100 (org) 530000 (object) Contract Services $ 11,000  

                                                       

___________________________________________                                           ____________                                                                                                   

Approvals:  

________________________                                                   
Fiscal Officer Clerk

______________________________________________________
Elected Official or Department Supervisor or Department Designee

                            
Date__________________________                           

Exhibit D-10



Signature Page
Resolution No. 2025-08.26.b 

A Resolution Approving an Account-to-Account Transfer into a Major Expenditure 
Object Category –1001 – General Fund - Auditor  

(Fairfield County Auditor- Finance)

This resolution has not yet been voted on.

CERTIFICATE OF CLERK
It is hereby certified that the foregoing is a true and correct transcript of a resolution acted 
upon by the Board of County Commissioners, Fairfield County, Ohio on the date noted above. 



A Resolution Approving an Account-to-Account Transfer into a Major 
Expenditure Object Category –2060, FCBDD 

WHEREAS, appropriations are needed to cover expenses for 2025; and

WHEREAS, an account-to-account transfer will allow proper classification of 
major expenditure object categories.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS, COUNTY OF FAIRFIELD, STATE OF OHIO:

 
Section 1.  That the Fairfield County Board of Commissioners approves the 
transfer of appropriations into a major expenditure object category in the 
amount of $400.00 as follows:

From:  52156041 Contract Services 
To:       52156041 Computer Hardware 

Prepared by: Cathy Anderson 

2025-08.26.c2025-08.26.c



Account-to-Account Transfer
For Auditor’s Office Use Only:

Total Transfer of Appropriations $400.00

From: 52156041, 530000, Contract Services; $400.00
To: 52156041, 574410, Computer Hardware; $400.00



Signature Page
Resolution No. 2025-08.26.c 

A Resolution Approving an Account-to-Account Transfer into a Major Expenditure 
Object Category –2060, FCBDD  

(Fairfield County Board of Developmental Disabilities )

This resolution has not yet been voted on.

CERTIFICATE OF CLERK
It is hereby certified that the foregoing is a true and correct transcript of a resolution acted 
upon by the Board of County Commissioners, Fairfield County, Ohio on the date noted above. 



A Resolution to Appropriate from Unappropriated in a Major 
Expenditure Object Category for Fairfield County Board of DD; Fund 
#2060, FCBDD

WHEREAS, FCBDD wishes to purchase two homes that Hocking Metropolitan 
Housing Authority has been managing, and
 
WHEREAS, the purchase of these two homes will ensure that four 
individuals are able to remain in their homes, and
 
WHEREAS, these funds were not included in the 2025 initial budget, and
 
WHEREAS, appropriating from unappropriated will allow proper accounting 
in the major expenditure object category,

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS, COUNTY OF FAIRFIELD, STATE OF OHIO:

 
Section 1. That the Fairfield County Board of Commissioners approves 
appropriating from unappropriated into the following major expenditure 
object category:

$525,000.00; 52676111, Capital Outlay

Prepared by: Cathy Anderson

2025-08.26.d2025-08.26.d



Appropriate from Unappropriated
For Auditor’s Office Use Only:

$525,000.00

52676111; 570000; Capital Outlay 



Signature Page
Resolution No. 2025-08.26.d 

A Resolution to Appropriate from Unappropriated in a Major Expenditure Object 
Category for Fairfield County Board of DD; Fund #2060, FCBDD

 

(Fairfield County Board of Developmental Disabilities )

This resolution has not yet been voted on.

CERTIFICATE OF CLERK
It is hereby certified that the foregoing is a true and correct transcript of a resolution acted 
upon by the Board of County Commissioners, Fairfield County, Ohio on the date noted above. 



A resolution to appropriate from unappropriated in a major 
expenditure object category for Fund #2861 Cyber Security 
Secretary of State- Board of Elections

WHEREAS, additional appropriations are needed in the major expenditure 
object category for contractual services; and

WHEREAS, appropriate from unappropriated will allow proper accounting in 
the major expenditure object category; and

_____________________________________________________
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS, COUNTY OF FAIRFIELD, STATE OF OHIO:
_____________________________________________________

Section 1. The Fairfield County Board of Commissioners appropriate from 
unappropriated into the following major expense object category:

$10,000.00 51286100 Capital Outlay

Prepared by: Amy McCoy
cc: Board of Elections

2025-08.26.e2025-08.26.e



For Auditor’s Office Use Only:

Section 1.
$10,000.00 51286100  574000 Equipment, Software, Fixtures



Signature Page
Resolution No. 2025-08.26.e 

A resolution to appropriate from unappropriated in a major expenditure object 
category for Fund #2861 Cyber Security Secretary of State- Board of Elections 

(Fairfield County Board of Elections)

This resolution has not yet been voted on.

CERTIFICATE OF CLERK
It is hereby certified that the foregoing is a true and correct transcript of a resolution acted 
upon by the Board of County Commissioners, Fairfield County, Ohio on the date noted above. 



A resolution to change bridge load ratings.

WHEREAS, as a result of an engineering analysis based on Ohio Legal Load 
Limits, the Fairfield County Engineer is recommending the load limit on the 
following bridges be restricted:

LIB-12 Bickel-Church Road Bridge per Exhibit A
LIB-29 Havensport Road Bridge per Exhibit B
VIO-32 Busey Road Bridge per Exhibit C
WAL-47 Leibs Island Road Bridge per Exhibit D

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS, COUNTY OF FAIRFIELD, STATE OF OHIO:

SECTION 1:  that this Board of Commissioners resolves to, and does hereby 
approve and order the load rating restrictions to the LIB-12 Bickel-Church 
Road Bridge, the LIB-29 Havensport Road Bridge, the VIO-32 Busey Road 
Bridge, and the WAL-47 Leibs Island Road Bridge per the attached Exhibits.

SECTION 2:  that the Clerk of this Board return one signed copy of this 
resolution to the County Engineer for further processing.

Prepared by:  Cheryl Downour
cc:  Engineering Office

2025-08.26.f2025-08.26.f



cdownour
Typewritten Text
LIB-12

cdownour
Typewritten Text
EXHIBIT A



cdownour
Typewritten Text
LIB-29

cdownour
Typewritten Text

cdownour
Typewritten Text
EXHIBIT B



cdownour
Typewritten Text
VIO-32

cdownour
Typewritten Text
EXHIBIT C



cdownour
Typewritten Text
WAL-47

cdownour
Typewritten Text
EXHIBIT D



Signature Page
Resolution No. 2025-08.26.f 

A resolution to change bridge load ratings. 

(Fairfield County Engineer)

This resolution has not yet been voted on.

CERTIFICATE OF CLERK
It is hereby certified that the foregoing is a true and correct transcript of a resolution acted 
upon by the Board of County Commissioners, Fairfield County, Ohio on the date noted above. 



A Resolution to Approve the Contract Bid Award for the Payment 
Drive-Thru Renovation Project with Buena Environmental, LLC.

WHEREAS, the opening of sealed bids on Thursday July 24, 2025, for the 
Payment Drive-Thru Renovation Project, resulted in the following bids:

Buena Environmental LLC $117,346.00; and

WHEREAS, the Facilities Department is recommending that the contract for 
the Payment Drive-Thru Renovation Project be awarded to Buena 
Environmental LLC, 47 Doresy Mill Rd. Heath, Ohio 43056; a responsive and 
responsible bidder, for the amount of $117,346.00.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS, COUNTY OF FAIRFIELD, STATE OF OHIO:

 
Section 1: That this Board of Commissioners resolves to, and does hereby, 
approve the Award to Bid in the amount of $117,346.00, to Buena 
Environmental LLC.

Prepared by: Jason Grubb
cc: Jon Kochis

2025-08.26.g2025-08.26.g



Rev. 12-31-24
Eff. 1-1-25 to 12-31-25 

ROUTING FORM FOR CONTRACTS 

The undersigned designee of the County affirms that he/she has reviewed the attached contract to ensure that it 
complies with County’s needs and previous negotiations. The undersigned designee further affirms that the 
County has complied with the competitive selection process, as prescribed by Ohio Revised Code 9.17, and the 
applicable sections as outlined on this form, by selecting the applicable boxes below. 

A. 

B. 

C. 

D. 

E. 

F. 

Goods and/or Services in excess of $77,250.00—competitively selected via an Invitation to Bid, 
pursuant to R.C. 307.86-307.92 

Goods and/or Services in excess of $77,250.00—competitively selected via a Request for Proposals, 
pursuant to R.C. 307.862 

Public Improvement contracts—competitively selected pursuant to R.C. 153.08-153.12 

Architect/Engineer design services for public improvements—selected through the Request for 
Qualifications process pursuant to R.C. 153.65-153.72 

County Road Improvement/Construction—competitively selected pursuant to R.C. 5555.61 

The subject matter was exempt from competitive selection for the following reason(s): 

1. 
2. 
3. 
4. 
5. 
6. 
7. 

 Under $77,250.00 
 State Term #:      (copy of State Term Contract must be attached) 
 ODOT Term #:            (See R.C. 5513.01) 
 Professional Services (See the list of exempted occupations/services under R.C. 307.86)  
Emergency (Follow procedure under ORC 307.86(A)) 
 Sole Source (attach documentation as to why contract is sole source)    

 (cite to 
authority or explain why matter is exempt from competitive bidding) 

G. Agreement not subject to Sections A-F (explain):   

H. Compliance with Fairfield County Board of Commissioners Procurement Guidelines 

1.  No County employee, employee's family member, or employee's business associate has an 
interest in this contract OR such interest has been disclosed and reviewed by the Prosecutor's Office 

2.  No Finding for Recovery against Vendor as required under R.C. 9.24 (search via “Certified 
Search” on  http://ffr.ohioauditor.gov/) 

3. 
4. 

Signed this  day of   , 20       . 

Name and Title 

* Please note that this checklist only addresses County and statutory requirements.  If a contract is paid for
with state and/or federal funds, please consult with the appropriate state and/or federal agency to ensure
your department is complying with any additional requirements. By submitting a request for approval, you
are certifying you have addressed County, statutory, and grant requirements.*

 Obtained 3 quotes for purchases under $77,250.00  (as applicable)
Purchase Order is included with Agreement 

Other:

http://ffr.ohioauditor.gov/


Certified Search for Unresolved Findings for RecoveryKeith Faber
Ohio Auditor

Name/Organization Address

Walton, Angela 201 Pennsylvania Avenue

Walton, Terrance 8566 Barbara Drive

Clemmons, Shawn 312 Overlook Drive

Clemmons, Shawn 312 Overlook Drive

Colgan, Sharon 125 Court Street, Ste. 350

Elliott, Shane P.O. Box 145

Floyd, Shane 4118 Brookside Boulevard

Floyd, Ph.D., Rev. Shane K. 4118 Brooksid eBoulevard

Gruenwald, Tim 9627 Timbermill Court

Manson, Sharon 105 Valley View Drive

Manson, Sharon 201 Robin Road

Manson, Sharon 201 Robin Road

Palmer, Lakisha D 5799 Abraham Dr

Pettus, Marsha 5709 Whittier Avenue

Rhea, Shalan

Robinson, Markisha 3897 E. 155th Street

Steigerwald, Robert 4248 Loubell Lane

Terrell, Lashawn 472 Kings Court

The Walker Group LLC 18031 Larchwood Ave..

Walker, Charles 7373 St. Rt. 61

Wallace, Matthew 10290 Tule Lane

Wallace-Deen, Fredericka 7625 Plainsfield

Wiseman, Shane

Auditor of State - Unresolved Findings for Recovery Certified Search

I have searched The Auditor of State's unresolved findings for recovery database using the following criteria:

Contractor's Information:

Name:  Walton, Shane 
Organization:  Buena Environmental LLC 
Date:  8/5/2025 9:01:01 AM

This search produced the following list of 23 possible matches:

Office of Auditor of State
88 East Broad Street
Post Office Box 1140

Columbus, OH 43216-1140

(614) 466-4514
(800) 282-0370



The above list represents possible matches for the search criteria you entered. Please note that pursuant to ORC 9.24, only the person (which includes an 
organization) actually named in the finding for recovery is prohibited from being awarded a contract.

If the person you are searching for appears on this list, it means that the person has one or more findings for recovery and is prohibited from being awarded 
a contract described in ORC 9.24, unless one of the exceptions in that section apply.

If the person you are searching for does not appear on this list, an initialed copy of this page can serve as documentation of your compliance with ORC 
9.24(E).

Please note that pursuant to ORC 9.24, it is the responsibility of the public office to verify that a person to whom it plans to award a contract does not 
appear in the Auditor of State’s database. The Auditor of State’s office is not responsible for inaccurate search results caused by user error or other 
circumstances beyond the Auditor of State’s control.



0  Page 1 

GENERAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

November 30, 2025

4th August
Buena Environmental LLC

Payment Center Renovation

August 4, 2025

117,346.00



Page 2 



Page 3 



Page 4 



Page 5 

Buena Environmental LLC 08/04/2025

82-5062014Shane Walton (Founding Partner)





















































































Expiration Date:

Purchase Order

Fiscal Year

THIS NUMBER MUST APPEAR ON ALL INVOICES,
PACKAGES AND SHIPPING PAPERS.

Purchase Order #

Delivery must be made within doors of specified destination.

B
I
L
L

T
O

V
E
N
D
O
R

S
H
I
P

T
O

VENDOR PHONE NUMBER VENDOR FAX NUMBER REQUISITION NUMBER DELIVERY REFERENCE

DATE ORDERED VENDOR NUMBER DATE REQUIRED FREIGHT METHOD/TERMS DEPARTMENT/LOCATION

NOTES

ITEM # DESCRIPTION / PART # QTY UOM UNIT PRICE EXTENDED PRICE

GL SUMMARY

For Deparment Use ONLY

Invoice Date___/____/_____ Invoice Amount $_______________ To Be paid___/____/_____ Warrant # ________

Auditor Fairfield County, OH

2025 Page: 1 of 1

25005888 - 00

03/15/2026

COUNTY COMMISSIONERS
210 E MAIN ST 3RD FLOOR
LANCASTER, OH 43130

ORIGINAL

Revisions: 000

MAINTENANCE DEPARTMENT
240 BALDWIN DRIVE
LANCASTER, OH 43130

BUENA ENVIRONMENTAL LLC
47 DORSEY MILL RD E
HEATH, OH 43056

6499

08/19/2025 19145 COMM-MAINTENANCE

PO Requisitioner Name : Staci Knisley

E mail Address : staci.knisley@fairfieldcountyohio.gov

1 EACH1.0 $117,346.00$117,346.00135 W. Chestnut - renovations project

GL Account: 12343500 - 570000 $117,346.00

12343500 - 570000 $117,346.00

Purchase Order Total $117,346.00

COUNTY AUDITOR’S CERTIFICATE

It is hereby certified that the amount $117,346.00 required to meet the contract, agreement, obligation, payment or
expenditure, for the above, has been lawfully appropriated, authorized or directed for such purpose and is in the
County Treasury or in process of collection to the credit of the submitted Fund(s) free from any obligation or
certification now outstanding.

Date: 08/19/2025



Prosecutor's Approval Page
Resolution No.  

A Resolution to Approve the Contract Bid Award for the Payment Drive-Thru 
Renovation Project with Buena Environmental, LLC. 

(Fairfield County Facilities)

Approved as to form on 8/22/2025 11:39:19 AM by Steven Darnell, 



Signature Page
Resolution No. 2025-08.26.g 

A Resolution to Approve the Contract Bid Award for the Payment Drive-Thru 
Renovation Project with Buena Environmental, LLC. 

(Fairfield County Facilities)

This resolution has not yet been voted on.

CERTIFICATE OF CLERK
It is hereby certified that the foregoing is a true and correct transcript of a resolution acted 
upon by the Board of County Commissioners, Fairfield County, Ohio on the date noted above. 



A resolution to request for appropriations for Fund #7521 Family 
and Children First Council (FCFC). 

WHEREAS, receipt lines and expenditure lines need updated for expected 
calendar year activity, and

WHEREAS, monies will be used for Help Me Grow Early Intervention 
Services,

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS, COUNTY OF FAIRFIELD, STATE OF OHIO:

Section 1. Request that the Fairfield County Commissioners Appropriate 
from Unappropriated funds in the amount of: $350,000.00 for the 60816022 
major expense object categories:

60816022           $ 350,000.00 Contract Services 
 

Prepared by: Tiffany Wilson

2025-08.26.h2025-08.26.h



For Auditor’s Office Use Only:

Section 1. 

60816022 530100 - $350,000.00 PASS-THRU CONTRACT SERVICES

Section 2. Issue an Amended Certificate in the amount $350,000 to credit 
of Fund (7521)

Section 3. Request that the Fairfield County Auditor, on behalf of the 
Budget Commission, update receipt line:

60816022 433400 Intergovernmental in the amount of $192,500.00

60816022 433100 Intergovernmental in the amount of $157,500.00



Page 1 of 28 
 

OHIO DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN AND YOUTH 
GRANT AGREEMENT for 

Early Intervention Service Coordination 
 

DCY-G-2627-0374 
 

RECITALS: 
 

This Grant Agreement (“Agreement”) between the Ohio Department of Children and Youth (”DCY” or “the State”), 
246 North High Street, Columbus, Ohio 43215 and the Fairfield County Board of Commissioners (“Grantee”)” 
located at 210 East Main Street, Lancaster, Ohio 43130, is created pursuant to the Grant awarded by DCY to 
Grantee. Grantee hereby accepts the Grant and agrees to comply with all the terms and conditions set forth in 
this Agreement. 
 
The information required by Title 2 of the Code of Federal Regulations (“CFR”), Section 200.332 is incorporated 
by reference and attached to this Agreement as Exhibit 1. 
 

ARTICLE I. PURPOSE; GRANT REQUIREMENTS 
 
A. The responsibilities of the Grantee (“Grant Requirements”) are summarized and attached as Exhibit 2: 
 
B. The DCY Agreement Manager is Traci Keesee, or successor. 
 
C. DCY has identified three goals as the agency's mission: 
 

1. Ensure infants reach their first birthday by decreasing infant mortality; 
2. Ensure children are ready for kindergarten by increasing kindergarten readiness assessment 

scores; and  
3. Ensure children remain in environments that are familiar and safe by decreasing the number of 

children and youth entering the foster care system.  
 
The Grantee is required to report to the Agreement Manager how its activities under this Agreement 
further a minimum of one of these goals. 

 
D. The DCY Agreement Manager may periodically communicate specific requests and instructions to 

Grantee concerning the performance of Grant Requirements described in this Agreement. Grantee 
agrees to comply with any requests or instructions to the satisfaction of DCY within ten days after 
Grantee’s receipt of the requests or instructions. DCY and Grantee expressly understand that any 
requests or instructions will be strictly to ensure the successful completion of the Grant Requirements 
described in this Agreement, and are not intended to amend or alter this Agreement in any way. If Grantee 
believes that any requests or instructions would materially alter the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement or the compensation stated hereunder, Grantee will immediately notify DCY pursuant to the 
Notice provision of this Agreement. Grantee agrees to consult with the DCY Agreement Manager as 
necessary to ensure understanding of the Grant Requirements and the successful completion thereof. 

 
 

ARTICLE II. EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE GRANT 
 

This Agreement will be in effect from July 1, 2025, through June 30, 2027, provided the Grantee executes 
and returns this Agreement to DCY on or before August 31, 2025. 

 
However, if the Grantee’s executed Agreement is received by DCY after August 31, 2025, this Agreement 
will be in effect upon signature of the DCY Director, through June 30, 2027, unless this Agreement is 
suspended or terminated prior to the expiration date.  



Page 2 of 28 
 

 
 

ARTICLE III. AMOUNT OF GRANT/PAYMENTS 
 
 

In consideration of Grantee’s promises and satisfactory performance, the State shall pay the fee identified below. 
 

 
A. The total amount of the Grant is Six Hundred Forty-Six Thousand Eight Hundred Forty-Two Dollars 

($646,842.00) to expressly perform the Grant Requirements. Grantee understands that the terms of this 
Agreement do not provide for compensation in excess of the total amount listed in this section. Grantee 
hereby waives the interest provisions of R.C. 126.30.  

 
B. Payment: 

1. The Grant will be paid as reimbursement for actual, allowable, expenditures incurred and paid by 
Grantee during the billing period pursuant to Grantee’s accepted budget attached as Exhibit 3 – 
Fairfield EISC SFY26.xlsx. The DCY Agreement Manager may provide written approval to 
Grantee for requested budget changes that do not exceed the amount listed in this Article for the 
Agreement period. Such approval may be made without formally amending this Agreement.  

2. Grantee must conduct a funds reconciliation of the Grant no later than thirty (30) days from the 
end of the Agreement period.  Grantee will return any Grant funds that exceed actual expenditures 
paid by Grantee and confirmed by invoices.  The DCY Agreement Manager will instruct Grantee 
on the manner in which to return the unused funds. 

 
C. DCY will pay for travel expenses in accordance with R.C. 126.31 and Rule 126-1-02 of the Ohio 

Administrative Code (“OAC”). Travel will be reimbursed at the rates established at https://obm.ohio.gov. 
 
D.  The State will reimburse indirect costs in compliance with 2 CFR 200.414 or 45 CFR 75.414, as 

applicable.  The State will reimburse fringe benefits costs in compliance with 2 CFR 200.431 or 45 CFR 
75.431, as applicable.   

 
E. Line item expenses listed in the budget may be reallocated upon the written approval of the DCY 

Agreement Manager as long as the total amounts per SFY and the total overall Agreement amount 
remains unchanged. 

 
ARTICLE IV. NOTICES 

 
A. DCY and Grantee agree that communication regarding Grant Requirements, scope of work, invoice or 

billing questions, or other routine instructions will be between Grantee and the identified DCY Agreement 
Manager.  

 
B. Notices to DCY from Grantee that concern changes to Grantee’s principal place of operation, billing 

address, legal name, federal tax identification number, mergers or acquisitions, corporate form, 
excusable delay, termination, bankruptcy, assignment, and/or any other formal notice regarding this 
Agreement will be sent to DCY Contracts & Monitoring at 246 North High Street, Columbus, Ohio 43215. 

 
C. Notices to Grantee from DCY concerning termination, suspension, option to renew, breach, default, or 

other formal notices regarding this Agreement will be sent to Grantee’s representative at the address 
appearing on the signature page of this Agreement. 

 

https://obm.ohio.gov/


Page 3 of 28 
 

D. All notices will be in writing and will be deemed effective upon receipt. All notices must be sent using a 
delivery method that documents actual delivery to the appropriate address herein indicated (e.g., certified 
mail). 

 
 

ARTICLE V. PAYMENT PROVISIONS 
. 
A.  Certification Of Funds/Purchase Order Requirements. None of the duties or obligations in this Agreement 

are binding on the State and the Grantee will not begin performance on this Agreement, until all of the 
following conditions are met: 
 

1. All statutory provisions under the Ohio Revised Code have been met. 
2. All necessary funds are made available to DCY. 
3. If required, the Controlling Board of Ohio has approved the purchase in accordance with R.C. 

127.16; and 
4. If applicable, an official State of Ohio Purchase Order (P.O.) has been issued from the DCY, which 

is certification that the above requirements have been met. 
 
B.  Invoice Requirements.  The Grantee, authorized to submit invoices, must submit an original monthly or 

quarterly invoice to the office designated in the purchase order. The Grantee will only be compensated 
for the Deliverables accepted by the State. Pursuant to the State of Ohio, Office of Budget and 
Management Safe Manual, the invoice must include the following:  
 

1. The purchase order number authorizing the delivery of supplies or services; 
2. State of Ohio Agreement Number (if applicable); 
3. DCY Name; 
4. DCY Billing Address; 
5. Delivery location of supplies or services; 
6. Grantee Name; 
7. Grantee Address; 
8. Grantee’s Unique Invoice Number; 
9. Date that services were provided or that supplies were delivered; 
10. Itemization of supplies or services provided, including cost; 
11. For leases, the invoice must also include the payment number (e.g., 1 of 36); 
12. Receipt or other proof of cost; 
13. Amount and purpose of the invoice, including such detail as required per the compensation 

section of this Agreement, description of Grant Requirements completed, description of services 
rendered, hourly rates and number of hours (if applicable), amount of monthly fee (if applicable), 
and itemized travel and other expenses if permitted by this Agreement; and 

14. Clear statement of total payment expected. 
 

C.   Payment Due Date and Process.  Unless otherwise stated in this Agreement and in accordance with R.C. 
126.30, payments under this Agreement will be due on the 30th calendar day after the date of actual 
receipt of a proper invoice in the office designated to receive the invoice.  The date payment is issued by 
the State will be considered the date payment is made.  Payment of an invoice by the State will not 
prejudice the State’s right to object to or question that or any other invoice or matter in relation thereto.  
The State’s preferred method of payment is by electronic funds transfer.  However, DCY may also make 
payment by State of Ohio payment card or by warrant issued by the Office of Budget and Management.  
At the time of Agreement award, Grantee must be able to accept all forms of payment from DCY. 
 

D. Grantee expressly understands that DCY does not have the ability to compensate Grantee for invoices 
submitted after the State of Ohio purchase order has been closed. State of Ohio purchase orders are 
issued per state fiscal year. Grantee must submit final invoices for payment for each state fiscal year no 

https://finsource.ohio.gov/SAFEManual/index.htm#t=Vouchers_and_Expenditures%2Finvoices.htm&rhsearch=proper%20invoice&ux=search


Page 4 of 28 
 

later than 90 calendar days after the end date of each state fiscal year, or if earlier, the end date of this 
Agreement. Failure to do so will be deemed a forfeiture of the remaining compensation due hereunder. 

 
 

ARTICLE VI. PERFORMANCE AND COMPLIANCE 
 

A. Custom Deliverables.  Pursuant to 37 CFR Part 401 -- Rights to Inventions Made by Nonprofit 
Organizations and Small Business Firms Under Government Grants, Contracts, and Cooperative 
Agreements, all custom work done by the Grantee and covered by this Agreement, including any software 
modifications and documentation, will belong to the State with all rights, title, and interest in all intellectual 
property that comes into existence through the Grantee's work under this Agreement being assigned to 
the State.  Additionally, the Grantee waives any shop rights, author rights, and similar retained interests 
in any such custom developed materials.  The Grantee must provide the State with all assistance 
reasonably needed to vest such rights of ownership in the State.  However, the Grantee will retain 
ownership of all tools, methods, techniques, standards, and other development procedures, as well as 
generic and preexisting shells, subroutines, and similar material incorporated in any custom Deliverable 
("Pre-existing Materials").  
 
The Grantee grants the State a worldwide, non-exclusive, royalty-free, perpetual license to use, modify, 
and otherwise distribute all Pre-existing Materials that are incorporated in any custom-developed 
Deliverable, including distribution to third parties as required by funding mandates. The Grantee may not 
include in any custom Deliverable any intellectual property unless such has been created under this 
Agreement or qualifies as Pre-existing Material.  If the Grantee wants to incorporate any Pre-existing 
Materials in a custom Deliverable, the Grantee must disclose that desire to the State and obtain written 
approval from the State for doing so in advance.  On the request of the Grantee, the State will incorporate 
any proprietary notice that Grantee may reasonably want for any Pre-existing Materials included in a 
custom Deliverable in all copies the State makes of that Deliverable.  Subject to the limitations and 
obligations of the State with respect to Pre-existing Materials, the State may make all custom Deliverables 
available to the general public without any proprietary notices of any kind. 

 
B. Force Majeure (Excusable Delay).  Neither party will be liable for any delay in its performance that arises 

from causes beyond its or its subgrantee’s and/or subcontractor’s control and without its or its 
subgrantee’s and/or subcontractor’s negligence or fault. For purposes of this section, the term “force 
majeure event” includes without limitation, the following:  Acts of God, such as pestilence, lightning, 
earthquakes, fires, storms, hurricanes, tornadoes, floods, washouts, droughts, severe weather.  
Additional circumstances and events include epidemics, explosions, restraining of government and 
people, war, strikes, and other similar events or causes. 

If the State or the Grantee cannot perform any part of its obligations under this Agreement because of 
force majeure, that party is excused from those obligations, to the extent that performance is prevented 
by the force majeure event and that party took all commercially reasonable steps to mitigate or avoid the 
effects of the force majeure event.  If there is only a delay in performance, such delay may extend only 
for that time lost because of the force majeure event.  If a party is unable to perform those above-
referenced obligations, it must also do the following: 

1. Promptly notify the other party, in writing, of any material delay in performance due to a specified 
force majeure event; 

2. Provide detailed information about the force majeure event; and 
3. Provide a proposed revised performance date to make up for performance delays due to the force 

majeure event.  When applicable, the revised schedule must provide for performance time not to 
exceed the time lost as a result of the force majeure event. 

 
C. Agreement Performance Management.  DCY is responsible for administering and monitoring the 

Grantee’s compliance and performance on this Agreement. Therefore, the Grantee must respond to 

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-37/chapter-IV/part-401
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-37/chapter-IV/part-401
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-37/chapter-IV/part-401


Page 5 of 28 
 

complaints about performance of the obligations in this Agreement to such entities in a timely manner.  If 
the Grantee fails to perform any one of its obligations under this Agreement, it will be in Default.   
 
If the Grantee fails to satisfactorily correct the performance or compliance issue within the time 
designated by DCY, Grantee may employ all available options and remedies, including termination of the 
Agreement, if necessary, to resolve the Grantee’s continued nonperformance or noncompliance.    

 
D.    Agreement Remedies. 
 

1. Actual Damages. The Grantee is liable to the State for all actual and direct damages caused by 
the Grantee’s Default. The State may self-perform or buy substitute Deliverables from a third party 
for those that were to be provided by the Grantee. The State may recover the costs associated 
with self-performance or acquiring substitute Deliverables, less any expenses or costs avoided 
by the Grantee’s Default. 

 
2. Right to Withhold or Offset.  DCY may withhold payment or set off the amount of any liquidated 

damages, other damages, or any other obligation of the Grantee or its subsidiaries to the DCY, 
including any amounts the Grantee owes to DCY under this Agreement, against any payments 
due to the Grantee under this Agreement.  

 
E. Suspension/Termination.  In the event of suspension or termination, the State will issue a notice.  Any 

notice of suspension or termination, in full or in part, will be effective as specified in the notice.  The 
Grantee must immediately cease all work, and take all steps necessary to minimize the costs the Grantee 
will incur related to this Agreement as directed by the notice.  Suspension or termination of this Agreement 
will not limit the Grantee’s continuing obligations with respect to Deliverables that the State paid for or 
ordered before the effective date of such suspension or termination or limit the State’s rights in such. 

 
At the State’s request, the Grantee must immediately prepare a final report and deliver such report to the 
State. The report must detail the work completed OR not processed prior to the time of notice. If 
applicable, the report must include the percentage of the Activity's completion, estimated time for delivery 
of all orders received but not processed, any costs incurred by the Grantee in doing the Grant 
Requirements to date, and any Deliverables completed or partially completed but not delivered to the 
State at the time of notice.  Based on the State’s approval of the final report and as directed, the Grantee 
must deliver work, whether completed or not, to the State.  Any Deliverables will be subject to approval 
by the State.  The Grantee may be entitled to payment for any Deliverables that have been delivered and 
accepted at a pro-rated amount based on the compensation structure of this Agreement. 
 

1. Agreement Suspension.  
 

a. Suspension for Cause.  If the Grantee fails to perform any one of the Grantee’s obligations 
under this Agreement, the Grantee will be in Default and the State may suspend rather than 
terminate this Agreement.  In the case of suspension for Default, the State will be entitled to 
all remedies available under this Agreement. 

 
b. Suspension for Convenience.  In the case of a suspension for the State’s convenience, the 

amount of compensation due to the Grantee for work performed before the suspension will 
be determined in the same manner as provided in Section G.2.a. for termination for the State’s 
convenience or the Grantee may be entitled to compensation for work performed before the 
suspension. 

 
The notice of suspension, whether with or without cause, will be effective immediately, on the Grantee’s 
receipt of the notice. 
 



Page 6 of 28 
 

The State may not suspend the work for its convenience more than twice during the term of this 
Agreement, and any suspension for the State’s convenience may not continue for more than 30 calendar 
days.  If the Grantee does not receive notice to resume or terminate the work within the 30-day 
suspension, then this Agreement will terminate automatically for the State’s convenience at the end of 
the 30-calendar day period.  
 

2. Agreement Termination.    
 

a. Termination for Convenience. DCY may terminate this Agreement for its convenience after 
issuing written notice to the Grantee. The Grantee will be entitled to the pro-rated price for 
any Deliverable or portion of a Deliverable that the Grantee has delivered and the DCY has 
accepted before the termination.  Total payments will not exceed the amount payable to the 
Grantee as if the Agreement or order had been fully performed, and the DCY will not be 
entitled to any refund of fees already paid by the DCY before the date of termination.  This will 
be the Grantee’s exclusive remedy in the case of termination for convenience and is available 
to the Grantee only after the Grantee has submitted a proper invoice. 

 
b. Termination for Cause. If the Grantee fails to perform any of its obligations under this 

Agreement, the Grantee will be in Default, and DCY may terminate this Agreement in 
accordance with this Section. If this Agreement is terminated for cause, DCY will be entitled 
to a pro rata refund of any prepaid fees for the applicable orders subject to the termination. 
Termination for cause includes but is not limited to: 

 
i. Termination for Persistent Default. DCY may terminate for Defaults that are cured but are 

persistent. “Persistent” means three or more Defaults. After providing notification to the 
Grantee of its third Default, DCY may terminate without providing the Grantee with an 
opportunity to cure. The three Defaults are not required to be related to each other in any 
way. 

 
ii. Termination for Endangered Performance. DCY may terminate if it determines that the 

performance is endangered through no fault of its own. 
 
iii. Termination for Financial Instability. DCY may terminate if the Grantee fails to timely pay 

its subgrantees and/or subcontractors, files a petition in bankruptcy or similar action, or 
DCY finds other evidence of the Grantee’s financial instability. 

 
iv. Termination for Delinquency, Violation of Law. DCY may terminate if it determines that the 

Grantee is delinquent in its payment of federal, state or local obligations including but not 
limited to taxes, workers’ compensation insurance premiums, unemployment 
compensation contributions, child support, court costs or any other obligation owed to a 
State agency or political subdivision. DCY also may terminate if it determines that the 
Grantee has violated any law during the performance of this Agreement. 

 
v. Termination for subgrantee and/or subcontractor Default. DCY may terminate for Default 

caused by the Grantee’s subgrantees and/or subcontractors. Any claims of its 
subgrantees and/or subcontractors due to suspension or termination will be the sole 
responsibility of the Grantee; and 

 
vi. Termination for Failure to Retain Certification, License, and Permits. DCY may 

immediately terminate if Grantee fails to obtain and maintain all official permits, approvals, 
licenses, certifications (Including CRP, MBE, EDGE and Veteran Friendly Business 
Enterprise certifications), and similar authorizations required by this Agreement or by any 
local, state, or federal law throughout the duration of this Agreement. 

 



Page 7 of 28 
 

F. Time Is of the Essence.  Time is of the essence in this Agreement.  The Grantee must deliver 
Deliverables and meet milestones as required by the Agreement or coordinate an acceptable date and 
time for delivery with the DCY.  If the Grantee is not able to or does not provide the Deliverables to 
DCY or meet milestones by the date and time set forth in the Agreement or agreed upon by the parties, 
the State may obtain any remedy as described herein or any other remedy at law. 

 
G. Federal Compliance. The Grantee must remain in compliance with 2 CFR 200.303 -- Internal controls. 

 
 

ARTICLE VII.  LIABILITY PROVISIONS 
 

A. General Representations.  
 

1. The Grantee shall follow 45 CFR 75.322 and 37 CFR part 401. 
2. The recommendations, guidance, and performance of the Grantee under this Agreement will be 

in accordance with the industry’s professional standards, the requirements of this Agreement and 
without any material defect. 

3. No Deliverable will infringe on the intellectual property rights of any third party. 
4. The Deliverables are merchantable and fit for the particular purpose described in this Agreement  
5. The Deliverables comply with all governmental, environmental and safety standards. 
6. The Grantee will observe and abide by all applicable laws and regulations, including those of the 

State regarding conduct on any premises under the State’s control.  
 

The Grantee must notify the State in writing immediately upon the discovery of any breach of the 
representations given above.  
 

B.  Infringement of Patent or Copyright. To the extent permitted by law, if any of the materials, reports, or 
studies provided by Grantee are found to be infringing items and the use or publication thereof is enjoined, 
Grantee agrees to, at its own expense and at its option, either procure the right to publish or continue 
use of such infringing materials, reports, or studies; replace them with non-infringing items of equivalent 
value; or modify them so that they are no longer infringing.  The obligations of Grantee under this section 
survive the termination of this Agreement, without limitation. 

 
C. Insurance.  Until all obligations under this Agreement are satisfied, and without limiting Grantee’s 

obligations herein, Grantee must procure and maintain, for the duration of the Agreement, the insurance 
policies set forth below.  Grantee must procure and maintain insurance against claims for injuries to 
persons or damages to property that may arise from or in connection with the performance of the services 
hereunder by the Grantee, its agents, representatives, or employees. All commercial insurance required 
must be provided by insurers with a rating of not less than A-VII from A.M. Best or a comparable rating 
agency, unless otherwise accepted by the State. 

 
Pursuant to 2 CFR 200.447, Grantee’s policies must have limits sufficient to cover the items below and 
that meet the definition of sound business practices.  Therefore, coverage shall be at least as broad as: 
 

1. Automobile Liability: covering Symbol 1 (any auto), or if Grantee has no owned autos, Symbol 8 
(hired) and 9 (non-owned), coverage per accident for bodily injury and property damage. 

 
2. Workers' Compensation insurance as required by the State of Ohio, or the state in which the work 

will be performed, with statutory limits, and Employer's Liability Insurance with coverage per 
accident for bodily injury or disease. If Grantee is a sole proprietor, partnership or has no statutory 
requirement for workers’ compensation, Grantee must provide a letter stating that it is exempt 
and agreeing to hold the State harmless from loss or liability for such. 
 



Page 8 of 28 
 

3. Professional Liability (Errors and Omissions) Insurance appropriate to the Grantee’s profession, 
with coverage sufficiently broad to respond to the duties and obligations as is undertaken by 
Grantee in this Agreement and must cover all applicable Grantee personnel or subcontractors 
who perform professional services related to this Agreement. 

 
4. Cyber liability (first and third party) with coverage sufficiently broad to respond to the duties and 

obligations as is undertaken by Grantee in this agreement and shall include, but not be limited to, 
claims involving infringement of intellectual property, including but not limited to infringement of 
copyright, trademark, trade dress, invasion of privacy violations, information theft, damage to or 
destruction of electronic information, release of private information, alteration of electronic 
information, extortion and network security. The coverage shall provide for breach response costs 
as well as regulatory fines and penalties and credit monitoring expenses with limits sufficient to 
respond to these obligations.  
 

The insurance obligations under this Agreement are the minimum Insurance coverage requirements 
and/or limits shown in this Agreement. Any insurance proceeds in excess of or broader than the minimum 
required coverage and/or minimum required limits, which are applicable to a given loss, will be available 
to the State of Ohio. No representation is made that the minimum insurance requirements of this 
Agreement are sufficient to cover the obligations of the Grantee under this Agreement. 

 
Pursuant to Section 2743.02(D) of the Ohio Revised Code, all applicable insurance or other means of 
recovery will apply to any claim arising from the Grantee’s Requirements relating to this Agreement on a 
primary basis. The insurance or self-insurance maintained by the State will not contribute to claims made 
due to the Grantee’s negligence, errors, or omissions. No subrogation demands will be made against the 
State of Ohio, except where there is negligence on the part of the State, and any such demands will be 
reduced by all collateral recovery sources available to or received by the claimant. 

 
Umbrella or Excess Insurance Policies.  Umbrella or excess commercial liability policies may be used in 
combination with primary policies to satisfy the limit requirements above. Such umbrella or excess 
commercial liability policies must apply without any gaps in the limits of coverage and be at least as broad 
as and follow the form of the underlying primary coverage required above. 

 
Notice of Cancellation.  Grantee must provide the State of Ohio with written notice of cancellation of any 
insurance policy required above as soon as possible and must use best efforts to notify the State at least 
30 days in advance of such cancellation. A lapse in any required insurance coverage during this 
Agreement will be a breach of this Agreement. 
 
Deductibles and Self-Insured Retentions.  Self-insured retentions must be declared to and approved by 
the State. The State may require the Grantee to provide proof of ability to pay losses and related 
investigations, claims administration, and defense expenses within the retention. The policy language 
must provide, or be endorsed to provide, that the self-insured retention may be satisfied by either the 
named insured or the State. Any and all deductibles and self-insured retentions will be the sole 
responsibility of the Grantee or subgrantee and/or subcontractor who procured such insurance and will 
not apply to the additional insured parties. The State may deduct from any amounts otherwise due to the 
Grantee to fund the self-insured retentions. Policies must not contain any self-insured retention provision 
that limits the satisfaction of the self-insured retention to the named insured. The policy must also 
provide that defense costs, including the allocated loss adjustment expenses, will satisfy the self-insured 
retention. The State reserves the right to obtain a copy of any policies and endorsements for verification. 
 
 
Claims Made Policies.  If any of the required policies provide coverage on a claims-made basis: 

 
1. The retroactive date must be shown and must be before the date of the Agreement or the 

beginning of contract work. 



Page 9 of 28 
 

2. Insurance must be maintained, and evidence of insurance must be provided for at least five (5) 
years after completion of the contract work; and 

3. If coverage is canceled or non-renewed, and not replaced with another claims-made policy form 
with a retroactive date prior to the Agreement effective date, the Grantee must purchase 
"extended reporting'' coverage for a minimum of five years after completion of contract work. The 
discovery period must be active during the extended reporting period. 

 
Verification of Coverage.  Grantee must furnish the State of Ohio with certificates of insurance and 
amendatory endorsements or copies of the applicable policy language affecting coverage required by 
this clause. All certificates are to be received and approved by the State of Ohio before work commences. 
However, failure to obtain the required documents prior to the work beginning will not waive the Grantee’s 
obligation to provide them. The State of Ohio reserves the right to require complete, certified copies of 
all required insurance policies, including endorsements required by these specifications, at any time.  
 
Subgrantees and/or Subcontractors.  Grantee must require and verify that all subgrantees and/or 
subcontractors maintain insurance with sufficient limits for the nature of the products or services they are 
providing and Grantee must ensure that the State of Ohio is an additional insured on commercial general 
liability insurance required from subgrantees and/or subcontractors. 

 
Special Risks or Circumstances.  The State reserves the right to modify these requirements, including 
limits, based on the nature of the risk, prior experience, insurer, coverage, or other special circumstances, 
as mutually agreed with the Grantee and incorporated into the Agreement by written amendment. 

 
D. Limitation of Liability.  The parties agree as follows:  
 

Each party agrees to be responsible for any of its own negligent acts or omissions or those of its agent, 
employees, or subcontractors.  Each party further agrees to be responsible for its own defense and any 
judgments and costs that may arise from such negligent acts or omissions.  Nothing in this Agreement 
will impute or transfer any such liability or responsibility from one party to the other.  To the maximum 
extent permitted by law, the parties’ liability for damages, whether in contract or in tort, may not exceed 
the total amount of compensation payable to Grantee under Article III or the actual amount of direct 
damages incurred by any party—whichever is less.  In no event will either party be liable for any indirect 
or consequential damages, including loss of profits, even if a party knew or should have known of the 
possibility of such damages. 
 

ARTICLE VIII. DATA AND INFORMATION CONTROL 
 
Grantee agrees that all records, documents, writings, and other information, created or used pursuant to this 
Agreement will be treated according to the following terms, and that the terms will be included in any subcontract 
and/or subgrant agreements executed for the performance of Grant Requirements relative to this Agreement: 
 
A. Confidentiality.  The parties may disclose or learn of information, documents, data, records, or other 

material that the disclosing party considers confidential (“Confidential Information”) in the performance of 
this Agreement. The receiving party must treat the Confidential Information as such if it is so marked, 
otherwise defined as such, or when, by its very nature, it deals with matters that, if generally known, 
would be damaging to the best interests of either party, the public, other parties, or individuals or 
organizations about whom the disclosing party keeps information.  Title to the Confidential Information 
and all related materials and documentation remains with the disclosing party. The receiving party may 
only use the Confidential Information to perform its obligations under this Agreement and may not use or 
disclose any Confidential Information received as a result of this Agreement without the written 
permission of the disclosing party. The Grantee must assume that all State information, documents, data, 
source codes, software, models, know-how, trade secrets, or other material when, by its very nature, it 
deals with matters that, if generally known, would be damaging to the best interest of the public, other 
parties, or individuals or organizations about whom the State keeps information is Confidential 



Page 10 of 28 
 

Information.  In addition, the receiving party may not use or disclose any documents or records that Ohio 
law prohibits from disclosure. 
 
The receiving party’s obligation to maintain the confidentiality of the Confidential Information will not apply 
where the information: 
 

1. Was already in the receiving party’s possession without the obligation of confidence; 
2. Is independently developed by the receiving party with documentary evidence to support the 

independent development; 
3. Is or becomes publicly available without breach of this Agreement, except as provided in the next 

full paragraph; 
4. Is rightfully received by the receiving party from a third party without an obligation of confidence; 
5. Is disclosed by the receiving party with the written consent of the disclosing party; or 
6. Is released in accordance with a valid order of a court or governmental agency, provided that the 

receiving party: 
a. Notifies the disclosing party of such order immediately upon receipt of the order; and 
b. Makes a reasonable effort to assist the disclosing party in obtaining a protective order, if 

requested, from the issuing court or agency limiting disclosure and use of the Confidential 
Information to the portion of the Confidential Information needed to satisfy the original order of 
production and solely for the purposes intended to be serviced by the order. 

 
Although some sensitive personal information, such as medical records, addresses, telephone numbers, 
and social security numbers may be publicly available through other sources, the receiving party must 
not disclose or use such information in any manner except as expressly authorized in this Agreement.  In 
such instances, item 3 above does not apply, and the receiving party must treat such sensitive personal 
information as Confidential Information whether it is available elsewhere or not. The receiving party must 
restrict circulation of Confidential Information within its organization and then only to people in the 
receiving party’s organization who have a need to know the Confidential Information to perform under 
this Agreement.   
 
The receiving party must return all Confidential Information provided by the disclosing party, or if return 
of the Confidential Information is not possible, destroy the Confidential Information upon termination or 
expiration of this Agreement. Upon request, the Grantee must provide certification or written confirmation 
to the State of such return or destruction of the Confidential Information. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
the receiving party may keep a copy of the Confidential  Information to comply with contractual, legal, or 
record-keeping obligations, and any such retained Confidential Information is subject to the requirements 
of this Agreement for so long as the receiving party has the Confidential Information in its possession.  
 
The receiving party will not incorporate any portion of any Confidential Information into any work or 
product, other than a Deliverable, and will have no proprietary interest in any of the Confidential 
Information.  Furthermore, the receiving party may be required to have its personnel and subcontractors 
and/or subgrantees who have access to any Confidential Information execute a confidentiality agreement 
incorporating the obligations in this section. 
 
The receiving party will be liable for the disclosure of any Confidential Information not specifically 
authorized by this Agreement. The parties agree that the disclosure of Confidential Information may 
cause the disclosing party irreparable damage for which remedies other than injunctive relief may be 
inadequate, and the receiving party agrees that in the event of a breach of the receiving party’s obligations 
hereunder, the disclosing party will be entitled to temporary and permanent injunctive relief to enforce 
this provision without the necessity of proving actual damages. This provision will not, however, diminish 
or alter any right to claim and recover damages. 
 
This Agreement, including all terms and conditions, pricing, and attachments or exhibits, is not 
Confidential Information.    



Page 11 of 28 
 

 
The State may require the Grantee, its employees, subcontractors and/or subgrantees, and agents to 
sign a confidentiality agreement and/or policy acknowledgements before accessing facilities, data, or 
systems.  The Grantee must immediately replace anyone who refuses to sign a required confidentiality 
agreement or acknowledgement. 
 

B. Public Records and Retention of Documents and Information.   
 

1. The Grantee acknowledges, in accordance with Section 149.43 of the Ohio Revised Code, that 
this Agreement, as well as any information, Deliverables, records, reports, and financial records 
related to this Agreement are presumptively deemed public records.  The Grantee understands 
that these records will be made freely available to the public unless the State determines that, 
pursuant to state or federal law, such materials are confidential or otherwise exempt from 
disclosure.  The Grantee must comply with any direction from the State to preserve and/or provide 
documents and information, in both electronic and paper form, and to suspend any scheduled 
destruction of such documents and information.  Should the Grantee receive a public records 
request or subpoena with respect to any State Data, the Grantee must immediately notify the 
State and fully cooperate with the State’s directions regarding such request. 

2. Grantee agrees to retain all records in accordance to any litigation holds that are provided to them 
by DCY, and actively participate in the discovery process if required to do so, at no additional 
charge.  Litigation holds may require Grantee to keep the records longer than the approved 
records retention schedule.  Grantee will be notified by DCY when the litigation hold ends and 
retention can resume based on the approved records retention schedule. If Grantee fails to retain 
the pertinent records after receiving a litigation hold from DCY, Grantee agrees to pay all costs 
associated with any cause, action or litigation arising from such destruction.   

 
3.  If applicable, Grantee hereby agrees to current and ongoing compliance with Title 42, Sections 

1320d through 1320d-8 of the United States Code (USC) and the implementing regulations found 
at Title 45, Sections 164.502(e) and 164.504(e) of the Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) 
regarding disclosure of Protected Health Information under the Health Insurance Portability and 
Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA). If applicable, Grantee further agrees to include the terms of 
this Section in any subgrant agreements that may be executed pursuant to this Agreement. 

 
C. Security and Safety Rules.  When on any property owned or controlled by the State, the Grantee must 

comply with all security and safety rules, regulations, and policies applicable to people on those premises. 
 
D.  Data Security and Privacy Terms.  These Data Security and Privacy Terms (“Terms”) describe the 

responsibilities for the Grantee relating to State information security and privacy standards and 
requirements for all proposed solutions, whether cloud, on-premises, or hybrid based. These Terms 
apply to all work, services, and personnel across all environments, and State of Ohio (“State”) and 
Grantee locations (e.g., cloud (Software as a Service, Platform as a Service, or Infrastructure as a 
Service), on-premises, or hybrid) along with the computing elements that the Grantee will perform, 
provide, occupy, or utilize in performing the work, and any Grantee access to State resources in 
conjunction with the delivery of work. 

 
The Grantee must comply with these Terms as they apply to the services being provided to the State. 
The Grantee is responsible for maintaining information security in any environments under the Grantee’s 
management in accordance with these Terms. 

 
These Terms are in addition to the Contract terms and conditions. In the event of a conflict between the 
Agreement and these Terms, the most stringent standard will prevail. 

 
Requirements 



Page 12 of 28 
 

 
1. The Grantee’s Responsibilities Generally 

 
At a minimum, the Grantee must maintain the security of Agreement Data in accordance with the 
moderate level security baseline of the current published version of the National Institute of 
Standards and Technology Special Publication 800-53, “Security and Privacy Controls for 
Federal Information Systems and Organizations,” (NIST 800-53). In the alternative, the Grantee 
may maintain the security of Agreement Data in accordance with International Organization for 
Standardization 27001 (ISO 27001) if the Grantee implements the additional necessary controls 
to achieve compliance with the requirements of NIST 800-53. Hereinafter, references in these 
Terms to “NIST 800-53" means both of the frameworks defined in this paragraph. 

 
The Grantee must implement the information security policies, standards, and capabilities set 
forth in the Agreement, support the State’s adherence to the State IT Security Policies and 
Standards, and use procedures in a manner that does not diminish established State capabilities 
and standards. 

 
The Grantee’s information security and technology responsibilities with respect to the work and 
services the Grantee is providing to the State include, where applicable, to assist in the 
implementation of associated security procedures with the State’s review and approval, including 
physical access requirements, User ID approval procedures, and a Security Incident action and 
response plan. 
 

2. Protection and Handling of Agreement Data 

The Grantee must maintain an information security program made up of policies, procedures, 
technical and organizational safeguards, and training designed to protect Agreement Data 
against unauthorized loss, destruction, alteration, access, or disclosure. To protect Agreement 
Data, the Grantee must use due diligence to ensure that computer and telecommunications 
systems and services involved in storing, using, or transmitting Agreement Data are secure 
and prevent Agreement Data from unauthorized disclosure, modification, use, or destruction. 
To accomplish this, the Grantee must adhere to the following requirements regarding Agreement 
Data in addition to the confidentiality requirements in the Agreement: 

 
a. Assume all Agreement Data is both confidential and critical for State operations. 
b. Maintain, in confidence, Agreement Data it may obtain, maintain, process, or otherwise receive 

from or through the State during the term of the Agreement and pursuant to the provisions of 
the Agreement and these Terms. 

c. Use and permit its employees, officers, agents, and subcontractors and/or subgrantees to use 
any Agreement Data received from the State solely to perform its obligations under the 
Agreement. 

d. Not sell, rent, lease, disclose, or permit its employees, officers, agents, and subcontractors 
and/or subgrantees to sell, rent, lease, or disclose, any Agreement Data to any third party, 
except as permitted under the Agreement or required by applicable law, regulation, or court 
order. 

e. Take all commercially reasonable steps to (a) protect the confidentiality of Agreement Data 
received from the State and (b) establish and maintain physical, technical, and administrative 
safeguards to prevent unauthorized access by third parties to Agreement Data received by the 
Grantee from the State. 

f. Apply appropriate risk management techniques to balance the need for security measures 
against the sensitivity of Agreement Data; and 

g. Ensure that the Grantee’s internal security policies, plans, and procedures address the basic 
security elements of confidentiality, integrity, and availability of Agreement Data, and 
periodically review and update these policies, plans, and procedures as needed. 



Page 13 of 28 
 

 
All Agreement Data at rest in systems supporting the Grantee’s services must reside within the 
contiguous United States with a minimum of two data center facilities at two different and distant 
geographic locations, ensuring physical and environmental protection controls are implemented 
as defined in State IT Security Policy 2100-15, and be handled in accordance with the 
requirements of these Terms at all Grantee locations. All Agreement Data that is not classified 
as public by the State must be encrypted at rest and while in transit utilizing industry standards 
that meet Federal Information Processing Standards (FIPS) validated algorithms and comply 
with State IT Security Policy IT-14, Data Encryption and Securing Confidential Data. 

 
If the Grantee will be accessing, processing, transmitting, possessing, creating, or storing 
Confidential Data, the State may require additional documentation from the Grantee and/or input 
to complete State documentation. 

 
3. Security Standards  

All solutions shall operate at the moderate level baseline as defined in the current published 
version of NIST 800-53, be consistent with Federal Information Security Management Act, 44 
U.S.C. § 3551 et seq. (FISMA 2014) requirements and offer a customizable and extendable 
capability based on open-standards APIs that enable integration with third party applications. 

The Grantee’s information security program must be designed to protect Agreement Data by 
implementing an industry security and privacy standard including, at a minimum: 

 
a. Security and confidentiality of Agreement Data. 
b. Protection against anticipated threats or hazards to the security or integrity of Agreement Data. 
c. Protection against unauthorized access to, disclosure of, or use of Agreement Data. 
d. Giving access to Agreement Data only to those individual employees, officers, agents, and 

subcontractors and/or subgrantees who need to know such information in connection with the 
performance of the obligations under the Agreement. 

e. Cooperating with any attempt by the State to monitor compliance with the foregoing obligations 
as reasonably requested by the State. 

f. Promptly destroying or returning to the State, in a format designated by the State, all Agreement 
Data received from or through the State upon completion of the work under the Agreement or 
upon termination or expiration of the Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Grantee 
may keep a copy of the Agreement Data to comply with contractual, legal, or record keeping 
obligations, and any such retained Agreement Data is subject to the requirements of this 
Agreement for so long as the Grantee has the Agreement Data in its possession. 

g. Maintaining appropriate and effective business continuity and disaster recovery plans to ensure 
resiliency of Agreement Data and business operations; and 

h. Maintain a privacy policy that includes, at a minimum, processes for the State to obtain 
individual privacy consent for the use of PII, at the determination of the State, and to respond 
to individuals’ requests to access, correct, and delete their PII unless otherwise expressly 
agreed to in the Agreement. All PII, including PII that has been de-identified, is considered 
Agreement Data and Confidential Information under this Agreement. 

 
The Grantee must scan all source code for vulnerabilities, including before and after any source 
code changes are made, must promptly remediate vulnerabilities, and/or provide the State with 
patches to address the vulnerabilities at no cost to the State. The Grantee must follow best 
practices for application code review and the most current version of the Open Source Foundation 
for Application Security (OWASP) top 10. 
 
In addition to the representations provided and pursuant to the terms of the representations 
section of the Agreement (i.e. notification, and correction), the Grantee represents that its 



Page 14 of 28 
 

software is free from viruses, malware, and other harmful or malicious code. 
 

4. Permitted Disclosure to Third Parties 
 

Disclosure of Agreement Data is permitted as set forth in the Agreement. Additionally, disclosure 
of Agreement Data is also permitted when required by applicable law, regulation, court order, or 
subpoena. If the Grantee or any of its representatives are ordered or requested to disclose any 
information provided by the State, whether Confidential Data or otherwise, pursuant to court or 
administrative order, subpoena, summons, or other legal process or otherwise believes that 
disclosure is required by any law, ordinance, rule or regulation, the Grantee must notify the State 
within 24 hours of receipt of the order or request in order for the State to seek a protective order 
or take other appropriate action, as desired. The Grantee must also cooperate in the State’s 
efforts to obtain a protective order or other reasonable assurance that confidential treatment will 
be accorded the information provided by the State. 

  
If, in the absence of a protective order, the Grantee is compelled as a matter of law to disclose 
the information provided by the State, the Grantee may disclose to the party compelling 
disclosure only the part of such information as is required by law to be disclosed (in which case, 
prior to such disclosure, the Grantee must advise and consult with the State and its counsel as 
to the scope of such disclosure and the nature of wording of such disclosure) and must use 
commercially reasonable efforts to obtain confidential treatment for the information disclosed. 

The Grantee may disclose Confidential Information to the following people, subject to the 
requirements of the Agreement and these Terms: 
 
a. To State or Federal auditors or regulators. 
b. To service providers and agents of either party as permitted by law, provided that such 

service providers and agents are subject to binding confidentiality obligations; and 
c. To the professional advisors of either party, provided that such advisors are obligated to 

maintain the confidentiality of the information they receive. 
 

5. Security Auditing 
 

The Grantee must remedy issues, material weaknesses, or other items identified in each audit 
as they pertain to the services provided under this Agreement.  The Grantee may use their 
administrative cost budget line to pay for SOC reports. 

 
6. Background Investigations of Grantee Personnel 

Any person who (a) has been convicted at any time of any criminal offense involving dishonesty, 
a breach of trust, money laundering, or who has entered into a pre-trial diversion or similar 
program in connection with a prosecution for such offense, (b) is named by the Office of Foreign 
Asset Control (OFAC) as a Specially Designated National, or (c) has been convicted of a felony 
may not perform certain services under the Agreement. 

 
The Grantee must conduct background investigations on Grantee personnel that may have 
access to Agreement Data. The State may conduct background investigations on Grantee 
personnel that have or may have access to Confidential Data, critical infrastructure systems, 
or when required by law, rule, or regulation. The State will conduct initial background 
investigations on Grantee personnel who will have access to FTI and/or CJI that must be 
favorably adjudicated before being permitted to access the FTI and/or CJI, and ongoing 
background investigations every five years thereafter for personnel who already have access to 
FTI and/or CJI. 

 



Page 15 of 28 
 

If any Grantee personnel refuses to have a background investigation completed or has an 
unfavorably adjudicated background investigation completed, the State may terminate that 
personnel’s access to the Agreement Data. 

 
a. Security Incident Response and Reporting 

 
The Grantee is responsible for Security Incident response, including containment, eradication, 
and recovery, to minimize the impact to the State. In addition to the requirements in the 
Agreement, the Grantee must perform the following in response to a Security Incident 
involving Agreement Data. 

 
The Grantee is not required to report Security Events unless a pattern of attacks significantly 
increases the risk of impact. 

The Grantee must report in writing to the State within 24 hours of the Grantee becoming aware 
of any Security Incident and/or use or disclosure of Agreement Data not authorized by the 
Agreement, including any reasonable belief that unauthorized access to or acquisition of 
Agreement Data has occurred, and fully cooperate with the State to mitigate the 
consequences of the Security Incident. Within five business days of the initial Security Incident 
report to the State, the Grantee must document and begin providing follow-up reports for all 
Security Incidents to the State. The Grantee must provide updates to the follow-up reports 
until the investigation is complete.  

 
7. Generative Artificial Intelligence. 

 
The Grantee is not permitted to enter Confidential Data in generative artificial intelligence 
models. 

 
E. General Audits.  

 
1. All records relating to cost, work performed, supporting documentation for invoices submitted to 

DCY, and copies of all materials produced under or pertaining to this Agreement will be retained 
by Grantee and will be made available for audit by state and federal government entities that 
include but not limited to, DCY, the Ohio Auditor of State, the Ohio Inspector General and all duly 
authorized law enforcement officials. The records and materials will be retained and made 
available for a minimum of three years after Grantee receives the last payment pursuant to this 
Agreement. If an audit, litigation or similar action is initiated during this time period, Grantee will 
retain the records until the action is concluded and all issues are resolved, or until the end of the 
three-year period if the action is resolved prior to the end of the three-year period. If applicable, 
Grantee must meet the requirements of the federal Office of Management and Budget (OMB) 
Omni-Circular 2 CFR Part 200, that financial records related to the performance of services under 
this Agreement are presumptively deemed public records. 

 
2. All records relating to cost, work performed, supporting documentation for invoices submitted to 

DCY, and copies of all materials produced under or pertaining to this Grant will be retained by 
Grantee in accordance to the appropriate records retention schedule.   The appropriate records 
retention schedule for this Grant is contained at  https://rims.das.ohio.gov/GeneralSchedule.  If 
any records are destroyed prior to the date as determined by the appropriate records retention 
schedule, Grantee agrees to pay all costs associated with any cause, action or litigation arising 
from such destruction.   

 
 

ARTICLE IX.  AGREEMENT CONSTRUCTION 

https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Frims.das.ohio.gov%2FGeneralSchedule&data=05%7C02%7CStaci-rae.Bixler%40childrenandyouth.ohio.gov%7C9ec8bb5b801144845bd808dc9545d595%7C50f8fcc494d84f0784eb36ed57c7c8a2%7C0%7C0%7C638549374364155761%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=v90tUgheviJ3BsdJa%2Br0E%2FoceP20mzQx8nW8jxs0KmQ%3D&reserved=0


Page 16 of 28 
 

 
A. Agreement Amendments / Waiver.   

 
1. Amendments.  No change to any provision of this Agreement will be effective unless it is in writing 

and signed by the parties to this Agreement.  However, the State may document non-material 
changes in writing and provide notice to the Grantee.  Unless specifically provided otherwise in this 
Agreement or agreed to in writing by DCY, no terms or conditions included on a Grantee’s quote or 
ordering document will be valid or enforceable against the State and are specifically excluded from 
this Agreement.  
 

2. Waiver.  The failure of either party at any time to demand strict performance by the other party of any 
of the terms of this Agreement will not be a waiver of those terms or to any other terms of this 
Agreement.  Waivers must be in writing to be effective, and either party may at any later time demand 
strict performance. 

 
B. Assignment / Delegation.  The Grantee must not assign any of its rights nor delegate any of its duties 

under this Agreement without written consent of the State. Any assignment or delegation not consented 
to may be deemed void by the State. 

 
C. Binding Effect.  Subject to the limitations on assignment provided elsewhere in this Agreement, this 

Agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the respective successors and assigns of the 
State and the Grantee. 

 
D. Language Construction.  This Agreement will be construed in accordance with the plain meaning of its 

language and neither for nor against the drafting party. 
 

E. Days and Times.  When this Agreement refers to days, it means calendar days, unless it expressly 
provides otherwise. When this Agreement refers to times, it means Columbus, Ohio local time. 

 
F. Headings.  The headings in this Agreement are for convenience only and will not affect the interpretation 

of any of the Agreement terms and conditions.  
 

G. Injunctive Relief.  Nothing in this Agreement is intended to limit the State’s right to injunctive relief if such 
is necessary to protect its interests or to keep it whole. 

 
H. Notices.  For any notice under this Agreement to be effective, the notice must be made in writing and 

delivered to the appropriate contact provided in the Agreement. 
 

I. Order of Priority.  Unless otherwise stated in this Agreement, the terms and conditions of this Agreement 
will take precedence over the attached exhibits or any other terms and conditions or documents 
referenced or incorporated by reference in this Agreement, including but not limited to the Funding 
Opportunity and the Provider’s Proposal Application. In the event that this Agreement fails to clarify any 
inconsistency or ambiguity between the Funding Opportunity and the Proposal Application, the Funding 
Opportunity will determine the obligations of the parties.   In the event of a disputed issue that is not 
addressed in any of the aforementioned documents, the parties hereby agree to make every reasonable 
effort to resolve this dispute in keeping with the objectives of this Agreement and the budgetary and 
statutory constraints of DCY. 

 
 

J. Publicity. The State may not endorse a product or service from a grantee without the State’s prior written 
approval including use of state logos. 
 

K. Severability.  If any provision of the Agreement or the application of any provision is held by a court to be    
contrary to law, the remaining provisions of the Agreement will remain in full force and effect. 



Page 17 of 28 
 

 
L. Subcontracting.  The State recognizes that it may be necessary for the Grantee to use a subgrantee 

and/or subcontractor to perform a portion of the work under the Agreement. In those circumstances, the 
Grantee must submit a list identifying the Grantee’s subgrantees and/or subcontractors.  The Grantee 
may not enter into subcontracts related to the Agreement after award without written approval from the 
State. If any change occurs during the term of the Agreement, that requires a change to identified 
subgrantees and/or subcontractors, the Grantee must amend its list of subgrantees and/or 
subcontractors and request written approval from the State.  The State reserves the right to reject any 
subgrantee and/or subcontractor submitted by the Grantee.  

 
All subcontracts will be at the sole expense of the Grantee and the Grantee will be solely responsible for 
payment of its subgrantees and/or subcontractors.  The Grantee assumes responsibility for all sub-
contracting and third-party manufacturer work performed or product delivered under the Agreement.  All 
agreements with subgrantees and/or subcontractors must incorporate the applicable terms of this 
Agreement by reference and include the following provisions: (1) the subgrantees and/or subcontractor 
agrees to be bound by all applicable terms and conditions of this Agreement; and (2) the terms of this 
Agreement prevail over any conflicting terms of the agreement with the subgrantee and/or subcontractor.  
The Grantee will be the sole point of contact for all contractual matters.  

 
M. Survivorship.  All sections herein relating to payment, confidentiality, license and ownership, 

maintenance, publicity, representations and limitations on damages will survive the termination of this 
Agreement.  In addition, to the extent necessary to carry out the purpose of this Agreement, all other 
terms, conditions, representations contained in this Agreement will survive the expiration or termination 
of this Agreement. 
 

N. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed simultaneously in two or more counterparts, each of 
which will be deemed an original, but all of which together will constitute one and the same instrument. 
 

O. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement supersedes all prior agreements, written or oral, between Grantee 
and the State and shall constitute the entire agreement and understanding between the parties with 
respect to the subject matter hereof.  This Agreement and each of its provisions shall be binding upon 
the parties and may not be waived, modified, amended, or altered except by a writing signed by the State 
and Grantee. 

 
 

ARTICLE X.  REGULATORY AGREEMENT REQUIREMENTS 
 
A. Antitrust.  The State and the Grantee recognize that, in actual economic practice, overcharges resulting 

from antitrust violations are usually borne by the State.  Pursuant to Section 109.81 of the Ohio Revised 
Code, the Grantee therefore assigns to the State all state and federal antitrust claims and causes of 
action that the Grantee has or acquires relating to the goods and services acquired under this Agreement. 

 
B. Appropriation of Funds. The State’s funds are contingent upon the availability of lawful appropriations. If 

the Ohio General Assembly or any third party providing funding fails at any time to continue funding for 
the payments or any other obligations due by the State under this Agreement, the State will be released 
from its obligations on the date funding expires.  If appropriations are approved, the State may continue 
this Agreement past the current biennium by issuing written notice of continuation to the Grantee. Any 
obligations of the State are subject to Section 126.07 of the Ohio Revised Code. 

 
C. Campaign Contributions.  Unless this Agreement was solicited by competitive bid pursuant to Section 

125.07 of the Ohio Revised Code, Grantee hereby certifies that all applicable parties are in full 
compliance with Section 3517.13 of the Ohio Revised Code. 

 



Page 18 of 28 
 

D. Compliance with Law.  The Grantee must comply throughout the duration of the Agreement with all 
applicable federal, state, and local laws and Executive Orders while performing under this Agreement.  

  
E. Conflict of Interest/Ethics. Grantee represents that it and its employees engaged in the administration or 

performance of this Agreement are knowledgeable of and understand the Ohio Ethics and Conflict of 
Interest laws including but not limited to Chapter 102 and Sections 2921.42 and 2921.43 of the Ohio 
Revised Code. Grantee further represents that neither Grantee nor any of its employees will do any act 
that is inconsistent with such laws or is otherwise a conflict of interest. 

 
F. Grantee’s Representation Against an Unresolved Finding for Recovery. Throughout the Agreement term, 

the Grantee represents that the Grantee is not subject to an unresolved finding for recovery pursuant to 
Section 9.24 of the Ohio Revised Code. If the representation is false on the date the parties signed this 
Agreement, the Agreement is void ab initio, and the Grantee must immediately repay any funds paid 
under this Agreement. 

 
G. Debarment. Throughout the Agreement term, the Grantee represents that neither it nor any of its 

subgrantees and/or subcontractors are debarred from consideration for contract awards by any 
governmental agency. If this representation is found to be false on the date the parties signed this 
Agreement, this Agreement is void ab initio, and the Grantee must immediately repay any funds paid 
under this Agreement. 

 
H. Drug Free Workplace.  The Grantee agrees to comply with all applicable state and federal laws regarding 

drug-free workplace and must make a good faith effort to ensure that all Grantee employees, while 
working on State property or performing work on behalf of the State, will not purchase, transfer, use, be 
under the influence of, or possess illegal drugs, non-medical cannabis (recreational marijuana), or 
alcohol, or abuse prescription drugs or medical marijuana in any way. 

 
I. Prohibition of The Expenditure of Public Funds for Offshore Services.  No State Cabinet Agency, Board 

or Commission will enter into any agreement to purchase services provided outside of the United States 
or that allows State Data to be sent, taken, accessed, tested, maintained, backed-up, stored, or made 
available outside of the United States, unless DCY obtains a duly signed waiver from the State.   
Notwithstanding any other terms of this Agreement, the State reserves the right to recover any funds paid 
for services the Grantee performs or for data located outside of the United States for which a waiver was 
not received.  The State does not waive any other rights and remedies provided to the State in this 
Agreement. 

 
Further, no State agency, board, commission, State educational institution, or pension fund will make any 
purchase from or investment in any Russian institution or company.  Notwithstanding any other terms of 
this Agreement, the State reserves the right to recover any funds paid to Grantee for purchases or 
investments in a Russian institution or company in violation of this paragraph.  . 
 
The Grantee must complete the Contractor/Subcontractor Affirmation and Disclosure Form affirming the 
Grantee understands and will meet the requirements of the above prohibition. During the performance of 
this Agreement, if the Grantee changes the location(s) disclosed on the Affirmation and Disclosure Form, 
Grantee must complete and submit a revised Affirmation and Disclosure Form to DCY reflecting such 
changes. The applicable provisions of this section will expire if the applicable Executive Order is no longer 
effective. 

 
J. Governing Law.  This Agreement is governed by the laws of the State of Ohio, and the venue for any 

disputes will be exclusively with the appropriate court in Franklin County, Ohio.   
 

K. Independent Contractor . It is fully understood and agreed that Grantee, its employees and any 
subcontractors are considered independent contractors and is not an agent, servant, or employee of the 

https://procure.ohio.gov/pdf/EO2022-02D/04-Affirmation%20and%20Disclosure%20Form_3-4-22.pdf


Page 19 of 28 
 

State. Grantee declares that it is engaged as an independent business and has complied with all 
applicable federal, state, and local laws regarding business permits and licenses of any kind, including 
but not limited to any insurance coverage, workers’ compensation, or unemployment compensation that 
is required in the normal course of business and will assume all responsibility for any federal, state, 
municipal or other tax liabilities Additionally, Grantee understands that as an independent contractor, it 
is not a public employee and is not entitled to contributions from the State to any public employee 
retirement system.  

 
L. Registration with the Secretary Of State.  Grantee certifies that it is one of the following: 

 
1. A domestic corporation that is properly registered with the Ohio Secretary of State; or 
2. A foreign corporation, not incorporated under the laws of the State of Ohio, but is registered with 

the Ohio Secretary of State pursuant to Sections 1703.01 to 1703.31 of the Ohio Revised Code, 
as applicable; or 

3. Exempt from the registration requirements of the Ohio Secretary of State. 
 

M. Taxes.  Pursuant to Section 5739.02 of the Ohio Revised Code, the State is exempt from sales tax.  
Pursuant to Section 5741.02(C) of the Ohio Revised Code, the State is exempt from use tax. 

 
N. Trade.  Pursuant to Section 9.76(B) of the Ohio Revised Code, Grantee represents that Grantee is not 

boycotting any jurisdiction with whom the State of Ohio can enjoy open trade, including Israel, and will 
not do so during the Agreement period. 
 
The State of Ohio does not acquire supplies or services that cannot be imported lawfully into the United 
States or transact business with any entity or individual subject to financial sanctions imposed by the 
United States.  The Grantee certifies that it, its subgrantees and/or subcontractors, and any agent of the 
Grantee or its subgrantees and/or subcontractors, will acquire any supplies or services in accordance 
with all trade control laws, regulations or orders of the United States, including the prohibited source 
regulations set forth in subpart 25.7, Prohibited Sources, of the Federal Acquisition Regulation and any 
sanctions administered or enforced by the U.S. Department of Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets 
Control. A list of those entities and individuals subject to sanctions can be found at 
https://home.treasury.gov/policy-issues/financial-sanctions/specially-designated-nationals-and-blocked-
persons-list-sdn-human-readable-lists.  These sanctions generally preclude most transactions involving 
Cuba, Iran, and Sudan, and most imports from Burma or North Korea. 

 
O. Use of MBE and Edge Vendors.  Section 125.081 of the Ohio Revised Code requires State agencies to 

set-aside purchases for Minority Business Enterprises (MBE) and Executive Order 2008-13S encourages 
use of Encouraging Diversity, Growth and Equity (EDGE) businesses. Therefore, the State encourages 
the Grantee to purchase goods and services from Ohio certified MBE and EDGE vendors.  

 
P. Legal Representation and Rights.  The Ohio Attorney General is the chief law officer for the State of Ohio, 

its agencies, boards and commissions, and only the Ohio Attorney General has the authority to appoint 
outside legal counsel to represent the State.  Grantee agrees that any provisions in this Agreement or 
any documents incorporated by reference that provide or allow for outside legal representation to defend 
or settle claims on behalf of the State or provide for a third party to have sole control of a defense or 
settlement of a claim do not meet the requirements of state law and are considered stricken.  Grantee 
also agrees that, unless specifically agreed to in writing by the State, any provisions that require or 
provide for a waiver of any legal rights, remedies, or litigation defenses (i.e., waiver of a jury trial) do not 
meet the requirements of state law and are considered stricken. 

 
Q. Statute of Limitations.  Statutes of limitations generally do not apply to actions brought by the State and 

any such provisions in this Agreement or in any documents incorporated by reference are considered 
stricken. 

 

https://home.treasury.gov/policy-issues/financial-sanctions/specially-designated-nationals-and-blocked-persons-list-sdn-human-readable-lists
https://home.treasury.gov/policy-issues/financial-sanctions/specially-designated-nationals-and-blocked-persons-list-sdn-human-readable-lists


Page 20 of 28 
 

R. Restrictions on Lobbying. Grantee affirms that no federal funds paid to Grantee by DCY through this 
Agreement or any other agreement have been, or will be, used to pay the salary or expenses of any grant 
or contract recipient, or agent acting for such recipient, related to any lobbying activity. Activity includes, 
but is not limited to serving on a committee with the responsibility over lobbying decisions designed to 
influence Congress or any State government, State legislature, or local legislature or legislative body. 
Grantee further affirms compliance with all federal lobbying restrictions, including 31 USC 1352 and with 
the Ohio executive agency lobbying restrictions contained in R.C. 121.60 through 121.69.  If this 
Agreement exceeds One Hundred Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($100,000.00), Grantee affirms that it 
has executed and filed the Disclosure of Lobbying Activities standard form LLL, if required by federal 
regulations. 

 
S. Accessibility Requirements.  If applicable, the Grantee represents it will comply with federal and state 

disabilities laws and regulations and also represents that the Deliverables provided under this Agreement 
conform to the applicable accessibility requirements of WCAG 2.1 Level AA or the most current version 
(the “Accessibility Standards”), Section 508 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, and the Americans with 
Disabilities Act. The Grantee must promptly respond to and resolve any complaint regarding accessibility 
of its products and services. Failure to comply with these requirements may constitute a material breach 
of this Agreement for which the State may terminate this Agreement. 

 
 

ARTICLE XI.  PROGRAM RELATED TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 

A.   Agreement Specific Data Security and Privacy Terms 
 

1. Grantee Access 
 

When the Grantee accesses State network systems and data, including remotely, the Grantee 
must maintain a robust security capability that incorporates generally recognized system 
hardening techniques. The Grantee must use appropriate measures to ensure that State Data is 
secure before transferring control of any systems or media on which State Data is stored. The 
method of securing the State Data must be in alignment with the required data classification. The 
Grantee may permit State Data to be loaded onto portable computing devices or portable storage 
components or media only if adequate security measures are in place to ensure the integrity and 
security of State Data. The transfer of any such system or media must be reasonably necessary 
for the performance of the Grantee’s obligations under the Agreement. The Grantee shall use 
multifactor authentication to limit access to systems that contain Sensitive Data. 

State Data must be encrypted when stored on any portable computing or storage device or media 
or when transmitted across any data network.  The Grantee must also maintain an accurate 
inventory of all such devices and the individuals to whom they are assigned. The Grantee must 
have reporting requirements for lost or stolen portable computing devices authorized for use with 
State Data and must report any loss or theft of such devices to the State in writing. 

  
2. HIPAA Compliance 

 
When the Grantee is handling State Data that includes health or medical data, the Grantee must 
comply with the data handling and privacy requirements of HIPAA and its associated regulations. 
Additionally, some or all of the State Data may be client identifying information covered by 42 
C.F.R. Part 2.  Grantee may only disclose such client identifying information back to the State and 
is bound in all respects by the regulations of 42 C.F.R. Part 2. 
    

B. County Board of Developmental Disabilities Designated Funds.  Pursuant to the provisions of House Bill 
96, funds earmarked for the purpose of evaluation, assessment, and service coordination services must 
be allocated to County Boards of Developmental Disabilities (CBDDs).  Therefore, if the Grantee is not a 



Page 21 of 28 
 

CBDD, the total amount of funds listed in column C of Exhibit 5 for the Grantee’s respective county must 
be offered to the Grantee’s CBDD.  If the Grantee’s CBDD accepts the funds, the total amount of funds 
listed in column C of Exhibit 5 for the Grantee’s respective county must be dispersed to the Grantee’s 
CBDD. 

 
 

ARTICLE XII. GLOSSARY 
 
The following definitions are applicable to all components of the Agreement: 
 
A. Acceptance: Approval and retention by the DCY of any products, supplies, services or other Deliverables, 

delivered to fulfill Agreement requirements.   
 
B. Agreement Data: State Data that Grantee has access to, transmits,  processes, possesses, creates or 

stores in providing services to the State. 
 
C.  Confidential Data: Any type of data that is required to be protected by law or regulation, is intended for 

confidential use, and may not be copied or removed from the State’s operational control without 
authorized permission. Confidential Data includes data that, if compromised, may result in loss of life, 
serious injury, or other harm to an individual or group, or disruption to critical State operations. 

 
Confidential Data includes, but is not limited to: 

1. Personally Identifiable Information (PII); 
2. Student information under the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (20 U.S.C. § 1232g); 
3. Federal Tax Information (FTI) under IRS Publication 1075 - Tax Information Security 

Guidelines for federal, state, and local agencies; 
4. Protected Health Information (PHI) under the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability 

Act (45 CFR Part 160 and Subparts A, C, and E of Part 164); United States Code 42 U.S.C. 
1320d through 1320d-9 (HIPAA); and Code of Federal Regulations for Public Health and 
Public Welfare: 42 C.F.R. 431.300, 431.302, 431.305, 431.306, 435.945, 45 C.F.R. 
164.502(e) and 164.504(e); 

5. Criminal Justice Information (CJI) under the Federal Bureau of Investigation’s Criminal Justice 
Information Services (CJIS) Security Policy available at https://le.fbi.gov/cjis-division/cjis-
security- policy-resource-center; 

6. Payment Card Industry Data Security Standards (PCI DSS); 
7. Social Security Administration (SSA) Data which is data received by the State from the Social 

Security Administration in accordance with the current Computer Matching and Privacy 
Protection Act between the State of Ohio and the Social Security Administration; and 

8. Other types of information not associated with an individual such as security and infrastructure 
records, trade secrets, and business bank account information. 
 

D.        Default:  The omission or failure to perform any obligation under this Agreement. 
 

E. Deliverable:  Any Grantee-provided products, supplies, services or work product described in the 
specifications of the Agreement. 

 
F. State: The State of Ohio. 

 
G. State Data: All data and information provided by, created by, created for, or related to the activities of the 

State and any information from, to, or related to all persons that conduct business or personal activities 
with the State, including, but not limited to, Confidential Data. All State Data is and will remain the property 
of the State and, unless specifically provided otherwise in the Agreement, Grantee acquires no right, title, 
or interest in or to State Data. 

https://le.fbi.gov/cjis-division/cjis-security-policy-resource-center
https://le.fbi.gov/cjis-division/cjis-security-policy-resource-center
https://le.fbi.gov/cjis-division/cjis-security-policy-resource-center


Page 22 of 28 
 

 
H. Personally Identifiable: Defined in the Ohio Revised Code means information that can be used directly or 

in combination with other information to identify a particular individual. It includes: 
1. A name, identifying number, symbol, or other identifier assigned to a person, 
2. Any information that describes anything about a person, 
3. Any information that indicates actions done by or to a person, and 
4. Any information that indicates that a person possesses certain personal characteristics. 

 
I.  Security Event: Any observable occurrence that is relevant to information security within normal 

operational noise levels and below pre-defined incident thresholds that does not adversely impact or 
potentially impact Agreement Data or information systems. 
 

J.      Security Incident: There is successful unauthorized access, use, disclosure, modification, or destruction 
of information or interference with system operations in an information system. 

 
 

K.     State IT Security Policies and Standards: The policies and standards available at 
https://das.ohio.gov/technology-and-strategy/information-security-privacy/information-security- 
governance. 

 
 

Signature Page and Exhibits Follow: 
 

Remainder of page intentionally left blank. 
 
 

 
List of Exhibits: 
Exhibit 1: Award Notification 
Exhibit 2: Grant Requirements 
Exhibit 3 – Fairfield EISC SFY26.xlsx 
Exhibit 4: Affirmation and Disclosure Form 
Exhibit 5: Allocation Table  

https://das.ohio.gov/technology-and-strategy/information-security-privacy/information-security-governance
https://das.ohio.gov/technology-and-strategy/information-security-privacy/information-security-governance


Page 23 of 28 
 

 
OHIO DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN AND YOUTH 

GRANT AGREEMENT for 
Early Intervention Service Coordination 

 
SIGNATURE PAGE 

 
DCY-G-2627-0374 

 
THE PARTIES HAVE EXECUTED THIS GRANT AGREEMENT AS OF THE DATE OF THE SIGNATURE OF 
THE DIRECTOR OF THE OHIO DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN AND YOUTH. 
 
 
Farfield County Board of Commissiones   Ohio Department of Children and Youth 
 
 
 
 
_________________________    _______________________________ 
Authorized Signature      Kara B. Wente, Director 
 
 
_________________________    _______________________________ 
Printed Name       Date 
 
 
_________________________ 
Date 
 
 
210 East Main Street      246 North High Street 
Lancaster, Ohio 43130     Columbus, Ohio 43215 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 



Page 24 of 28 
 

Exhibit 1: 
Award Notification   



US Department of Education
Washington, D.C. 20202

GRANT AWARD NOTIFICATION

H181A240024

1 RECIPIENT NAME

Ohio Department of Children and Youth
246 North High Street
7th Floor
Columbus, OH 43215

2 AWARD INFORMATION

PR/AWARD NUMBER H181A240024
ACTION NUMBER 2

ACTION TYPE Administrative
AWARD TYPE Formula

3 PROJECT STAFF

RECIPIENT STATE DIRECTOR
Taylor Hammond 614-728-9164
Taylor.Hammond@childrenandyouth.ohio.gov

EDUCATION PROGRAM CONTACT
Gregory Corr (202) 245-7309
gregg.corr@ed.gov

EDUCATION PAYMENT HOTLINE
G5 PAYEE HELPDESK 888-336-8930
obssed@servicenowservices.com

4 PROJECT DESCRIPTION

84.181A
INFANT, TODDLERS & FAMILIES (PART C)

5 KEY PERSONNEL

N/A

6 AWARD PERIODS

BUDGET PERIOD 07/01/2024 - 09/30/2025
FEDERAL FUNDING PERIOD 07/01/2024 - 09/30/2025

FUTURE BUDGET PERIODS

N/A

7 AUTHORIZED FUNDING

CURRENT AWARD AMOUNT N/A
PREVIOUS CUMULATIVE AMOUNT $17,789,953.00

CUMULATIVE AMOUNT $17,789,953.00

8 ADMINISTRATIVE INFORMATION

UEI CBD4TX1Y41D5
REGULATIONS CFR PART 303

EDGAR AS APPLICABLE
2 CFR AS APPLICABLE

ATTACHMENTS N/A

9 LEGISLATIVE AND FISCAL DATA

AUTHORITY: PL 105-17 PART - C INDIVIDUAL WITH DISABILITIES EDUCATION ACT
PROGRAM TITLE: SPECIAL EUDCATION - GRANTS FOR INFANTS AND FAMILIES WITH

DISABILITIES
CFDA/SUBPROGRAM NO: 84.181A

10 PR/AWARD NUMBER: H181A240024
RECIPIENT NAME: Ohio Department of Children and Youth

TERMS AND CONDITIONS

N/A

mailto:Taylor.Hammond@childrenandyouth.ohio.gov
mailto:gregg.corr@ed.gov
mailto:obssed@servicenowservices.com


US Department of Education
Washington, D.C. 20202

GRANT AWARD NOTIFICATION

H181A240024

{{digsig1_es_:signer1:digitalsignature}}

AUTHORIZING OFFICIAL DATE

Ver. 1



EXPLANATION OF BLOCKS ON THE GRANT AWARD NOTIFICATION

For Discretionary, Formula and Block Grants  (See Block 2 of the Notification)
1. RECIPIENT NAME - The legal name of the recipient or name of the primary organizational unit that was identified in the application, state plan

or other documents required to be submitted for funding by the grant program.
2. AWARD INFORMATION - Unique items of information that identify this notification.

PR/AWARD NUMBER - A unique, identifying number assigned by the Department to each application. On funded applications, this is
commonly known as the "grant number" or "document number." The PR/Award Number is also known as the
Federal Award Identifying Number, or FAIN.

ACTION NUMBER - A numeral that represents the cumulative number of steps taken by the Department to date to establish or modify
the award through fiscal or administrative means. Action number "01" will always be "NEW AWARD"

ACTION TYPE - The nature of this notification (e.g., NEW AWARD, CONTINUATION, REVISION, ADMINISTRATIVE)
AWARD TYPE - The particular assistance category in which funding for this award is provided, i.e., DISCRETIONARY, FORMULA,

or BLOCK. If this award was made under a Research and Development grant program, the terms RESEARCH AND
DEVELOPMENT will appear under DISCRETIONARY, FORMULA OR BLOCK.

3. PROJECT STAFF - This block contains the names and telephone numbers of the U.S. Department of Education and recipient staff who are
responsible for project direction and oversight.

*RECIPIENT PROJECT DIRECTOR - The recipient staff person responsible for administering the project. This person represents
the recipient to the U.S. Department of Education.

EDUCATION PROGRAM CONTACT - The U.S. Department of Education staff person responsible for the programmatic,
administrative and businessmanagement concerns of the Department.

EDUCATION PAYMENT CONTACT - The U.S. Department of Education staff person responsible for payments or questions
concerning electronic drawdown and financial expenditure reporting.

4. PROJECT TITLE AND CFDA NUMBER - Identifies the Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA) subprogram title and the
associated subprogram number.

5.* KEY PERSONNEL - Name, title and percentage (%) of effort the key personnel identified devotes to the project.
6. AWARD PERIODS - Project activities and funding are approved with respect to three different time periods, described below:

BUDGET PERIOD - A specific interval of time for which Federal funds are being provided from a particular fiscal year to fund a recipient's
approved activities and budget. The start and end dates of the budget period are shown.

PERFORMANCE PERIOD - The complete length of time the recipient is proposed to be funded to complete approved activities. A
performance period may contain one or more budget periods.

*FUTURE BUDGET PERIODS - The estimated remaining budget periods for multi-year projects and estimated funds the Department
proposes it will award the recipient provided substantial progress is made by the recipient in
completing approved activities, the Department determines that continuing the project would be in the
best interest of the Government, Congress appropriates sufficient funds under the program, and the
recipient has submitted a performance report that provides the most current performance information
and the status of budget expenditures.

7. AUTHORIZED FUNDING - The dollar figures in this block refer to the Federal funds provided to a recipient during the award periods.
*THIS ACTION - The amount of funds obligated (added) or de-obligated (subtracted) by this notification.
*BUDGET PERIOD - The total amount of funds available for use by the grantee during the stated budget period to this date.
*PERFORMANCE PERIOD - The amount of funds obligated from the start date of the first budget period to this date.
RECIPIENT COST SHARE - The funds, expressed as a percentage, that the recipient is required to contribute to the project, as defined

by the program legislation or regulations and/or terms and conditions of the award.
RECIPIENT NON-FEDERAL AMOUNT - The amount of non-federal funds the recipient must contribute to the project as identified in

the recipient's application. When non-federal funds are identified by the recipient where a
cost share is not a legislation requirement, the recipient will be required to provide the non-
federal funds.

8. ADMINISTRATIVE INFORMATION - This information is provided to assist the recipient in completing the approved activities and
managing the project in accordance with U.S. Department of Education procedures and
regulations.

UEI - The UEI, issued in SAM.gov, is a unique 12 character organization identifier assigned to each recipient for payment purposes.



*REGULATIONS - Title 2 of the Code of Federal Regulations(CFR), Part 200 as adopted at 2 CFR 3474; the applicable parts of the
Education Department General Administrative Regulations (EDGAR), specific program regulations (if any), and other
titles of the CFR that govern the award and administration of this grant.

*ATTACHMENTS - Additional sections of the Grant Award Notification that discuss payment and reporting requirements, explain
Department procedures, and add special terms and conditions in addition to those established, and shown as
clauses, in Block 10 of the award. Any attachments provided with a notification continue in effect through the project
period until modified or rescinded by the Authorizing Official.

9. LEGISLATIVE AND FISCAL DATA - The name of the authorizing legislation for this grant, the CFDA title of the program through which
funding is provided, and U.S. Department of Education fiscal information.

FUND CODE, FUNDING YEAR, AWARD YEAR, ORG.CODE, PROJECT CODE, OBJECT CLASS -
The fiscal information recorded by the U.S. Department of Education's Grants Management System (G5) to track obligations by award.
AMOUNT -  The amount of funds provided from a particular appropriation and project code. Some notifications authorize more than one
amount from separate appropriations and/or project codes. The total of all amounts in this block equals the amount shown on the line, "THIS
ACTION" (See "AUTHORIZED FUNDING" above (Block 7)).

10. TERMS AND CONDITIONS - Requirements of the award that are binding on the recipient.
*PARTICIPANT NUMBER - The number of eligible participants the grantee is required to serve during the budget year.
*GRANTEE NAME - The entity name and address registered in the System for Award Management (SAM). This name and address is

tied to the UEI registered in SAM under the name and address appearing in this field. This name, address and the
associated UEI is what is displayed in the SAM Public Search.

*PROGRAM INDIRECT COST TYPE - The type of indirect cost permitted under the program (i.e. Restricted, Unrestricted, or
Training).

*PROJECT INDIRECT COST RATE - The indirect cost rate applicable to this grant.
*AUTHORIZING OFFICIAL - The U.S. Department of Education official authorized to award Federal funds to the recipient, establish

or change the terms and conditions of the award, and authorize modifications to the award

FOR FORMULA AND BLOCK GRANTS ONLY:
(See also Blocks 1, 2, 4, 6, 8, 9 and 10 above)
3. PROJECT STAFF - The U.S. Department of Education staff persons to be contacted for programmatic and payment questions.
7. AUTHORIZED FUNDING

CURRENT AWARD AMOUNT - The amount of funds that are obligated (added) or de-obligated (subtracted) by this action.
PREVIOUS CUMULATIVE AMOUNT - The total amount of funds awarded under the grant before this action.
CUMULATIVE AMOUNT - The total amount of funds awarded under the grant, this action included.

10. AFFILIATE - If an affiliate digital signature appears on this GAN, it is the digital signature belonging to the individual delegated the authority to
affix the Authorizing Official's signature to the GAN.

* This item differs or does not appear on formula and block grants.



Page 25 of 28 
 

Exhibit 2:  
Grant Requirements 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Early Intervention Service Coordination  
Grant Requirements 
 

1. Grantee must provide Early Intervention Service Coordination (EISC) per Ohio 
Administrative Code (OAC) Rules 5180-10-01, 5180-10-02, 5180-10-03, and 5180-10-04 
(or as amended). 
 

2. Grantee must designate an individual as the Early Intervention (EI) Contract Manager. 
 
3. The Grantee, through the EI Contract Manager, must meet the following requirements: 

a. Serve as the primary point of contact with the State for activities related to this 
Agreement and respond to information requests within five business days. 

b. Collaborate with the State Regional Program Consultant to develop and implement 
the county technical assistance and training plan. 

c. Provide timely submission of expenditure reports to the State. 
d. Provide robust monitoring and oversight of State and federal laws, including 

compliance with federal indicators, credentialing of personnel, parent rights, and 
procedural safeguards. 

e. Provide accurate reporting to the relevant Family and Children First Council by 
completing and presenting the EISC Oversight Report 
(https://ohioearlyintervention.org/service-coordination-grant-agreements) by the 
following dates: 

i. February 28, 2026, reporting on activities completed July 1, 2025, to 
December 31, 2025. 

ii. August 31, 2026, reporting on activities completed January 1, 2026, to June 
30, 2026. 

iii. February 28, 2027, reporting on activities completed July 1, 2026, to 
December 31, 2027. 

iv. July 31, 2027, reporting on activities completed January 1 to June 30, 2027. 
 

4. The Grantee, through the EI Contract Manager, must: 
a. Meet with their assigned State Regional Program Consultant within three months 

of the execution of this Agreement. 
b. Meet with their assigned EI Monitoring Consultant at least once during each grant 

year. Newly hired EI Contract Managers must meet with their assigned EI 
Monitoring Consultant within three months of hire. 

c. Observe an EI Team meeting within six months of the execution of this Agreement. 
d. Meet with the EI Director or EI Supervisor for the EISC agency.  

 
5. The Grantee must oversee the EI Contract Manager’s completion of the EI foundational 

training found in the EI Contract Manager training program 
(https://mylearning.dodd.ohio.gov/).  

a. EI Contract Managers that have previously completed any of the early intervention 
foundational training courses and have documentation do not need to retake the 
courses. 

b. EI Contract Managers hired prior to July 1, 2025, that have not completed the 
foundational training courses must complete them by January 31, 2026. 

c. EI Contract Managers hired after July 1, 2025, must complete the following 
trainings within six months of their hire date: 

i. Introduction to EI (EI-064); 
ii. Forms Overview (EI-065) (or its successor); 



iii. Procedural Safeguards (EI-066); 
iv. Mission and Key Principles (EI-068); 
v. Service Coordination Duties and Process (EI-070); 
vi. The IFSP Process (EI-076); 
vii. Principles of Service Coordination: Module One – Introduction to EI (EI-

021); 
viii. Principles of Service Coordination: Module Seven – Compliance (EI-046);  
ix. High-Quality Case Notes in EI Documentation Recorded Webinar (EI-029);  
x. Eligibility Basics (EI-254); and 
xi. Principles of Service Coordination Module 3 (EI-042). 

 
d. EI Contract Managers hired after July 1, 2025, must complete the following 

trainings within 12 months of their hire date:  
i. Mandated Reporting of Child Abuse and Neglect (EI-067);  
ii. Primary Service Approach (EI-074); and 
iii. Natural Learning Environments (EI-075).  

 
6. The Grantee must oversee the participation of EI Contract Manager in any training 

deemed necessary by The Department of Children and Youth (DCY). 
 

7. Grantee must respond to any request from DCY for additional reports, records, or other 
information regarding the activities to carry out the requirements of this Agreement within 
five business days. 
 

8. Grantee must designate the EI Contract Manager as an “EI System Administrator” in the 
Early Intervention Data System (EIDS) (https://ohioearlyintervention.org/data-system).  

a. The Grantee may also specify other people to serve as additional EI System 
Administrators. 

b. Prior to granting access to EIDS to any user, the Grantee must obtain a user-
completed “EIDS Role Request Form” that is available on the Ohio Early 
Intervention website which will be maintained at the agency level for at least as 
long as the user requires access to EIDS.  

c. The Grantee must contact the State within 24 hours of a user no longer needing 
access to EIDS.  

d. The Grantee must remove any user’s access to EIDS within 24 hours of the user 
no longer needing access to EIDS.  

  
9. Grantee must enter all required data in EIDS for activities completed as part of this 

Agreement within 30 days, with the exception of EI exit data referenced in Grant 
Requirement 10. 
 

10. Grantee must enter the EI exit data within one business day of exit unless the child exits 
due to turning age three.  
 

11. Grantee must oversee the mandatory annual review of the EIDS data entry guide and its 
supplement by each user (https://ohioearlyintervention.org/data-system) . 
 

12.  Grantee must execute a contract or memorandum of understanding (MOU) with the local 
county board of developmental disabilities (CBDD) detailing the CBDDs commitment to 
using the funding for evaluation and assessment purposes if the CBDD accepts the CBDD 
designated funds for evaluation and assessment, unless the CBDD is the named Grantee 

https://ohioearlyintervention.org/data-system
https://ohioearlyintervention.org/data-system


for this Agreement.  The contract or MOU must include a statement addressing the amount 
of funds that will be provided to the CBDD for the provision of evaluation and assessments.  
The contract or MOU must also contain a statement that by accepting the funds, the CBDD 
agrees to maintain its current maintenance of effort for EI.   

 
13. Grantee must use the Department of Developmental Disabilities’ Grant Management 

System (GMS) to invoice and receive reimbursement of grant funds.  Information on GMS 
can be found here: https://ohioearlyintervention.org/data-system.   
 

14. Grantee must notify DCY of any changes in the FCFC designated agency for early 
intervention at least ten days prior to any proposed change. 
 

15. Grantee must provide written notice to DCY within thirty (30) days of any change in the 
Designated Early Intervention Agency or Administrative Agency. 
 

  
Grant Deliverables 
 

1. Grantee must provide the name and contact information for the person identified as the EI 
Contract Manager. 
 

2. Grantee must provide its State Regional Program Consultant with copies of the EISC 
oversight reports according to the following schedule, within 30 days of the date the report 
was submitted to the FCFC. 

a. February 28, 2026, for reporting on activities completed July 1, 2025, to December 
31, 2025. 

b. August 31, 2026, for reporting on activities completed January 1, 2026, to June 30, 
2026. 

c. February 28, 2027, for reporting on activities completed July 1, 2026, to December 
31, 2027. 

d. July 31, 2027, for reporting on activities completed January 1 to June 30, 2027. 
 

3. Grantee must submit documentation to its assigned State Regional Program Consultant 
within 30 days of completion for all required trainings listed in Grant Requirement 5. 
 

4. Grantee must submit the following programmatic reports to its State Regional Program 
Consultant:  
 

a. Initial Program Narrative on the DCY approved template 
(https://ohioearlyintervention.org/service-coordination-grant-agreements) no 
later than August 1, 2025. 

b. Mid-Year Report and local outreach report, in the format provided by DCY no 
later than February 28, 2026. 

c. Final Program Report and local outreach report in the format provided by DCY, 
no later than July 31, 2026.   

 

https://ohioearlyintervention.org/data-system.
https://ohioearlyintervention.org/service-coordination-grant-agreements


5. Grantee must submit a DCY approved contact sheet to their assigned State Regional 
Program Consultant no later than August 1, 2025, and within 14 days of any personnel 
changes. 

6. Grantee must collaborate with their assigned State Regional Program Consultant to review 
and update the county technical assistance and training plan no later than November 30, 
2025. 

7. Grantee must collaborate with the State Regional Program Consultant to develop and 
implement the county technical assistance and training plan. 

8. Grantee must provide written notice to DCY by no later than March 31st of each year if there 
will be any change in the Designated Early Intervention Agency, Administrative Agency, 
and/or any changes to multicounty agreements for the subsequent state fiscal year. 

9. If the Grantee is not a CBDD, it must submit to DCY a copy of the executed MOU or contract 
required in Requirement 12, by no later than thirty days after the execution of this Agreement. 

10. If the Grantee is not a CBDD, it must submit documentation via an email to DCY of the 
offering and acceptance or refusal of the CBDD designated funds to the local CBDD by no 
later than thirty days after the execution of this Agreement. 

 

 

 



Page 26 of 28 
 

 
 
 

Exhibit 3 –  
Fairfield EISC SFY26.xlsx 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



TOTAL
Object Cost Categories                                        
(Object Cost Categories can be removed or modified and names changed in 
lines 7 through 13 as needed.) SFY26 Budget SFY27 Budget
Personnel $49,879.44 $49,879.44
Fringe $28,218.40 $28,218.40
Travel $300.00 $300.00
Equipment $0.00 $0.00
Supplies $2,502.16 $2,502.16
Training $100.00 $100.00
Contractual* $0.00
Other (Specify)** $565,842.00 $565,842.00
Total Direct Costs $646,842.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $646,842.00
Indirect Costs*** $0.00 $0.00
Total Costs $646,842.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $646,842.00

SFY26 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter TOTAL SFY 
Federal $0.00
Non-Federal $0.00
Total $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

SFY27 1st quarter 2nd quarter 3rd quarter 4th quarter TOTAL YEAR 
Federal $0.00
Non-Federal $0.00
Total $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

Notes 

Other (Specify)** Add additional lines as needed. Please include any subgrant awards here. List each subgrantee with amount of subaward, purpose/activities and confirm that the Grantee has a monitoring plan in 
place.Lancaster-Fairfield Community Action Agency will conduct Service Coordination Services: $450,320.   Fairfield County Board of DD will conduct Evaluations and Assessments: $115,522.

Indirect Costs*** Specify if using a Federally Accepted Negotiated Indirect Cost Rate. If using, please provide the indirect cost plan and rate award document.

BUDGET CATEGORIES
Complete by State Fiscal Year - SFY (Jul - Jun)

FORECASTING PER QUARTER

Contractual*  If known or anticipated. Please detail procurement methods used. List each contractor separately with amount of contract and purpose/deliverables.  CONTRACTS: 



Page 2

 

Rate Rate

1. Tiffany Wilson FCFC Manager 7/1/2025 $35.27 2,080.0 15.0% $11,004.24 48.0% $5,282.04 $16,286.28

Current rate is $34.41.  Staff receive increases 
of up to 5% ($36.13) in Jan.  Used an average 
of the two rates.  Health insurance is not based 
on a percentage.  It is a flat rate for all 
employees and is expected to go up by 5% in 
Jan.  This includes health, life, med, and 
retirment.   The percentage will be different for 
all employees. 

2. Laurie Clark EI Contract Manager 7/1/2025 $26.70 2,080.0 70.0% $38,875.20 59.0% $22,936.37 $61,811.57

Current rate is $26.05.  Staff receive increases 
of up to 5% ($27.35) in Jan.  Used an average 
of the two rates.Health insurance is not based 
on a percentage.  It is a flat rate for all 
employees and is expected to go up by 5% in 
Jan.  This includes health, life, med, and 
retirment.   The percentage will be different for 
all employees. 

3. $0.00 0.0 100.0% $0.00 0.0% $0.00 $0.00

4. $0.00 0.0 100.0% $0.00 0.0% $0.00 $0.00

5. $0.00 0.0 100.0% $0.00 0.0% $0.00 $0.00

6. $0.00 0.0 100.0% $0.00 0.0% $0.00 $0.00

7. $0.00 0.0 100.0% $0.00 0.0% $0.00 $0.00

8. $0.00 0.0 100.0% $0.00 0.0% $0.00 $0.00

9. $0.00 0.0 100.0% $0.00 0.0% $0.00 $0.00

10. $0.00 0.0 100.0% $0.00 0.0% $0.00 $0.00

11. $0.00 0.0 100.0% $0.00 0.0% $0.00 $0.00

12. $0.00 0.0 100.0% $0.00 0.0% $0.00 $0.00

13. $0.00 0.0 100.0% $0.00 0.0% $0.00 $0.00

14. $0.00 0.0 100.0% $0.00 0.0% $0.00 $0.00

15. $0.00 0.0 100.0% $0.00 0.0% $0.00 $0.00

$49,879.44 $28,218.40 $78,097.84

PERSONNEL - Employee Salaries and Wages

Total Employee Salary

# Employee Name Employee Title
Start Date on 

Program
End Date on 

Program

Amount 
Charged to 

Project Total Costs

Fringe Benefits

Comments

Date/Duration of Project:

Total Project Cost
Forecasted Cash Needs

(UP TO A 12 MONTH PERIOD ONLY)

Monthly or 
Hourly Rate 

Number of 
hour 

worked

Percent           
of Time 
(FTE)           



Page 27 of 28 
 

 
 
 
 

Exhibit 4: 
Affirmation and Disclosure Form 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



Version 5/24  Page 1 of 2 

 

AFFIRMATION AND DISCLOSURE FORM 
 
 
 
Contractor affirms that Contractor has read and understands the applicable Executive Orders regarding the 
prohibitions of performance of offshore services, locating State data offshore in any way, or purchasing 
from Russian institutions or companies.   
 
The Contractor shall provide the name(s) and location(s) where all services under this Contract will be 
performed and where State data will be located in the spaces provided below or by attachment. If the 
Contractor will not be using subcontractors, indicate “Not Applicable” in the appropriate spaces. 
 
 
Contractor Name:  ___________________________ Contract Number:       
 
 

1. Principal business location of Contractor:  
 
             
(Address)      (City, State, Zip) 
 
Name(s)/Principal business location(s) of subcontractor(s): 
 
             
(Name)       (Address, City, State, Zip) 
 
             
(Name)       (Address, City, State, Zip) 
 
 
  

2. Location(s) where services will be performed by Contractor: 
 
             
(Address)      (City, State, Zip) 
 
             
(Address)      (City, State, Zip) 
 
 
Name(s)/Location(s) where services will be performed by subcontractor(s): 
 
             
(Name)       (Address, City, State, Zip) 
 
             
(Name)       (Address, City, State, Zip) 
 
 
 
 

 
  



Version 5/24  Page 2 of 2 

 

3. Location(s) where any State data associated with any of the services Contractor is providing, or 
seeks to provide, will be accessed, tested, maintained, backed-up, or stored: 

 
              
 (Address)      (City, State, Zip) 
 
              
 (Address)      (City, State, Zip)  
  
 

Name(s)/Location(s) where any State data associated with any of the services any subcontractor 
is providing, or seeks to provide, will be accessed, tested, maintained, backed-up, or stored: 

  
 
              
 (Name)       (Address, City, State, Zip) 
 
 

             
(Name)       (Address, City, State, Zip) 
 
 
             
(Name)       (Address, City, State, Zip) 
 
 
             
(Name)       (Address, City, State, Zip) 
 
 
             
(Name)       (Address, City, State, Zip) 

 
 
Contractor also affirms, understands and agrees that Contractor and its subcontractors are under a duty to 
disclose to the State any change or shift in location of services performed by Contractor or its subcontractors 
before, during and after execution of any contract with the State.  Contractor agrees to notify the State 
immediately of any such change or shift in location of its services.  The State has the right to terminate the 
contract if any services are performed or State data is located outside of the United States unless a duly 
signed waiver from the State has been attained. 
 
On behalf of the Contractor, I acknowledge that I am duly authorized to execute this Affirmation and 
Disclosure Form and have read and understand that this form is a part of any contract that Contractor may 
enter into with the State and is incorporated therein. 
 
 
By: __________________________________ 
 Authorized Contractor Signature 
 
Print Name: ___________________________ 
 
Title: __________________________________ 
 
Date: __________________________________ 



Page 28 of 28 
 

Exhibit 5: 
Allocation Table 

 
 
 



County Allocation Base
CBDD Designated 

Funds
NAS Lead Local Outreach Total Allocation 

Adams $91,690 $21,499 $3,071 $1,500 $6,000 $123,760

Allen $329,801 $77,333 $11,048 $7,713 $12,251 $438,146

Ashland $102,042 $23,927 $3,418 $4,114 $6,000 $139,501

Ashtabula $197,037 $46,202 $6,600 $5,399 $6,000 $261,238

Athens $85,614 $20,075 $2,868 $2,571 $6,000 $117,128

Auglaize $173,845 $40,763 $5,823 $1,500 $6,000 $227,931

Belmont $237,414 $55,670 $7,953 $3,600 $6,000 $310,637

Brown $116,651 $27,353 $3,908 $1,000 $6,000 $154,912

Butler $1,008,821 $236,550 $33,792 $11,827 $34,418 $1,325,408

Carroll $57,034 $13,374 $1,911 $1,000 $6,000 $79,319

Champaign $84,718 $19,865 $2,838 $1,500 $6,000 $114,921

Clark $299,667 $70,266 $10,038 $33,682 $13,487 $427,140

Clermont $519,606 $121,838 $17,405 $1,500 $17,192 $677,541

Clinton $140,422 $32,927 $4,704 $1,000 $6,000 $185,053

Columbiana $183,001 $42,910 $6,130 $8,228 $8,546 $248,815

Coshocton $100,326 $23,525 $3,361 $4,114 $6,000 $137,326

Crawford $107,249 $25,148 $3,593 $4,885 $6,000 $146,875

Cuyahoga $3,440,057 $806,633 $115,232 $259,171 $45,000 $4,666,093

Darke $166,633 $39,072 $5,582 $1,000 $6,000 $218,287

Defiance $86,902 $20,377 $2,911 $2,828 $6,000 $119,018

Delaware $551,476 $129,311 $18,473 $3,600 $17,159 $720,019

Erie $197,045 $46,203 $6,600 $1,500 $6,000 $257,348

Fairfield $492,666 $115,522 $16,503 $3,857 $18,294 $646,842

Fayette $87,066 $20,416 $2,917 $4,371 $6,000 $120,770

Franklin $3,505,537 $821,988 $117,426 $47,567 $45,000 $4,537,518

Fulton $124,822 $29,268 $4,181 $1,500 $6,000 $165,771

Gallia $92,811 $21,763 $3,109 $1,000 $6,000 $124,683

Geauga $177,041 $41,513 $5,930 $1,500 $6,000 $231,984

Greene $467,116 $109,531 $15,647 $1,000 $13,553 $606,847

Guernsey $121,384 $28,463 $4,066 $2,828 $6,000 $162,741

Hamilton $1,667,793 $391,069 $55,867 $61,707 $45,000 $2,221,436

Hancock $219,527 $51,475 $7,354 $1,500 $7,411 $287,267

Hardin $97,489 $22,859 $3,266 $3,857 $6,000 $133,471

Harrison $48,624 $11,401 $1,629 $1,500 $6,000 $69,154

Henry $109,247 $25,616 $3,659 $1,500 $6,000 $146,022

Highland $125,998 $29,545 $4,221 $4,114 $6,000 $169,878

Hocking $74,826 $17,546 $2,507 $2,828 $6,000 $103,707

Holmes $90,979 $21,333 $3,048 $1,500 $6,000 $122,860

Huron $173,204 $40,613 $5,802 $3,857 $6,000 $229,476

Jackson $58,867 $13,803 $1,972 $1,000 $6,000 $81,642

Jefferson $152,836 $35,838 $5,120 $1,500 $8,079 $203,373

Knox $120,392 $28,230 $4,033 $4,371 $6,000 $163,026

Lake $546,009 $128,029 $18,290 $3,342 $19,562 $715,232

Lawrence $184,577 $43,280 $6,183 $1,000 $6,944 $241,984

Licking $341,188 $80,002 $11,429 $8,228 $14,789 $455,636

Logan $128,533 $30,139 $4,306 $2,828 $6,000 $171,806

Lorain $849,564 $199,208 $28,458 $11,056 $27,340 $1,115,626

Lucas $1,182,202 $277,206 $39,601 $57,079 $40,627 $1,596,715

Madison $93,232 $21,861 $3,123 $1,500 $6,000 $125,716

Proposed Allocation Table for Early Intervention Service Coordination and  

County Board of Developmental Disabilities Allocation

SFY26/FFY25

(Includes Federal and State General Revenue Funds)

A B C D E F G



Mahoning $598,111 $140,246 $20,035 $16,712 $19,462 $794,566

Marion $145,446 $34,105 $4,872 $4,885 $8,246 $197,554

Medina $373,210 $87,511 $12,502 $4,114 $12,652 $489,989

Meigs $64,949 $15,229 $2,176 $1,500 $6,000 $89,854

Mercer $166,461 $39,032 $5,576 $1,500 $6,000 $218,569

Miami $351,772 $82,485 $11,784 $4,628 $10,382 $461,051

Monroe $39,433 $9,246 $1,321 $1,500 $6,000 $57,500

Montgomery $1,314,171 $308,150 $44,021 $26,740 $45,000 $1,738,082

Morgan $44,250 $10,376 $1,482 $1,500 $6,000 $63,608

Morrow $73,532 $17,242 $2,463 $1,500 $6,000 $100,737

Muskingum $248,660 $58,306 $8,329 $9,256 $10,582 $335,133

Noble $40,517 $9,500 $1,357 $1,500 $6,000 $58,874

Ottawa $84,539 $19,823 $2,832 $1,500 $6,000 $114,694

Paulding $48,452 $11,361 $1,623 $1,000 $6,000 $68,436

Perry $85,077 $19,949 $2,850 $1,500 $6,000 $115,376

Pickaway $174,575 $40,935 $5,848 $1,000 $6,000 $228,358

Pike $93,232 $21,861 $3,123 $1,000 $6,000 $125,216

Portage $340,257 $79,784 $11,398 $1,500 $11,183 $444,122

Preble $80,681 $18,918 $2,703 $1,500 $6,000 $109,802

Putnam $119,014 $27,907 $3,987 $1,000 $6,000 $157,908

Richland $278,471 $65,297 $9,328 $12,341 $11,183 $376,620

Ross $116,798 $27,387 $3,912 $1,500 $6,000 $155,597

Sandusky $140,693 $32,990 $4,713 $5,142 $6,000 $189,538

Scioto $207,295 $48,607 $6,944 $2,571 $8,145 $273,562

Seneca $141,780 $33,245 $4,749 $2,571 $6,000 $188,345

Shelby $174,863 $41,003 $5,858 $1,500 $6,000 $229,224

Stark $913,987 $214,313 $30,615 $24,940 $33,883 $1,217,738

Summit $1,258,622 $295,124 $42,160 $27,511 $45,000 $1,668,417

Trumbull $363,961 $85,342 $12,192 $10,285 $15,256 $487,036

Tuscarawas $230,371 $54,018 $7,717 $7,713 $9,113 $308,932

Union $203,313 $47,673 $6,810 $1,500 $6,000 $265,296

Van Wert $124,580 $29,212 $4,173 $1,500 $6,000 $165,465

Vinton $39,433 $9,246 $1,321 $1,000 $6,000 $57,000

Warren $575,807 $135,016 $19,288 $5,399 $18,661 $754,171

Washington $183,027 $42,916 $6,131 $3,857 $6,000 $241,931

Wayne $291,228 $68,288 $9,755 $5,142 $10,682 $385,095

Williams $99,343 $23,294 $3,328 $1,500 $6,000 $133,465

Wood $373,071 $87,479 $12,497 $2,571 $11,918 $487,536

Wyandot $39,433 $9,246 $1,321 $1,500 $6,000 $57,500

Statewide $29,852,996 $7,000,000 $1,000,000 $806,500 $1,000,000 $39,659,496



Signature Page
Resolution No. 2025-08.26.h 

A resolution to request for appropriations for Fund #7521 Family and Children First 
Council (FCFC).  

(Fairfield County Family and Children First Council)

This resolution has not yet been voted on.

CERTIFICATE OF CLERK
It is hereby certified that the foregoing is a true and correct transcript of a resolution acted 
upon by the Board of County Commissioners, Fairfield County, Ohio on the date noted above. 



A Resolution regarding an amendment for a previously approved 
Network Placement and Related Services Agreement between Family 
Wellness Solutions, Inc. and Child Protective Services Department.

WHEREAS, Fairfield County Job & Family Services, Child Protective Services 
is requesting the Board of Commissioners approval of an amendment to add 
a per diem rate to a previously approved service agreement with Family 
Wellness Solutions, Inc., 760 Linden Ave., Zanesville, OH 43701; and

WHEREAS, the purpose of the service agreement is to provide Network 
Placement and Related Services for children who are in the care and custody 
of the Agency; and

WHEREAS, this amended agreement shall be effective July 1st, 2025 through 
June 30th, 2026; and 

WHEREAS, a purchase order encumbering the funds for the services has been 
acquired; and

WHEREAS, the Prosecuting Attorney has approved the agreement as to form,

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS, COUNTY OF FAIRFIELD, AND STATE OF OHIO:

Section 1. That the Fairfield County Board of County Commissioners hereby 
approves the attached amended Network Placement Service Agreement with 
Family Wellness Solutions, Inc.

Prepared by: Michele White
cc: JFS / Program Contract Specialist

2025-08.26.i2025-08.26.i









Signature Page

A Contract regarding Addendum-Family Wellness Solutions, Inc between
Job and Family Services and

Approved on 8/21/2025 7:56:25 AM by Sarah Fortner, Deputy Director

Sarah Fortner
Deputy Director

Approved on 8/21/2025 8:44:58 AM by Corey Clark, Director of Fairfield County
Job & Family Services

Corey Clark, Director
Fairfield County Job & Family Services

(JFS ONLY) Contract ID:  1036



Rev. 12-31-24
Eff. 1-1-25 to 12-31-25 

ROUTING FORM FOR CONTRACTS 

The undersigned designee of the County affirms that he/she has reviewed the attached contract to ensure that it 
complies with County’s needs and previous negotiations. The undersigned designee further affirms that the 
County has complied with the competitive selection process, as prescribed by Ohio Revised Code 9.17, and the 
applicable sections as outlined on this form, by selecting the applicable boxes below. 

A. 

B. 

C. 

D. 

E. 

F. 

Goods and/or Services in excess of $77,250.00—competitively selected via an Invitation to Bid, 
pursuant to R.C. 307.86-307.92 

Goods and/or Services in excess of $77,250.00—competitively selected via a Request for Proposals, 
pursuant to R.C. 307.862 

Public Improvement contracts—competitively selected pursuant to R.C. 153.08-153.12 

Architect/Engineer design services for public improvements—selected through the Request for 
Qualifications process pursuant to R.C. 153.65-153.72 

County Road Improvement/Construction—competitively selected pursuant to R.C. 5555.61 

The subject matter was exempt from competitive selection for the following reason(s): 

1. 
2. 
3. 
4. 
5. 
6. 
7. 

 Under $77,250.00 
 State Term #:      (copy of State Term Contract must be attached) 
 ODOT Term #:            (See R.C. 5513.01) 
 Professional Services (See the list of exempted occupations/services under R.C. 307.86)  
Emergency (Follow procedure under ORC 307.86(A)) 
 Sole Source (attach documentation as to why contract is sole source)    

 (cite to 
authority or explain why matter is exempt from competitive bidding) 

G. Agreement not subject to Sections A-F (explain):   

H. Compliance with Fairfield County Board of Commissioners Procurement Guidelines 

1.  No County employee, employee's family member, or employee's business associate has an 
interest in this contract OR such interest has been disclosed and reviewed by the Prosecutor's Office 

2.  No Finding for Recovery against Vendor as required under R.C. 9.24 (search via “Certified 
Search” on  http://ffr.ohioauditor.gov/) 

3. 
4. 

Signed this  day of   , 20       . 

Name and Title 

* Please note that this checklist only addresses County and statutory requirements.  If a contract is paid for
with state and/or federal funds, please consult with the appropriate state and/or federal agency to ensure
your department is complying with any additional requirements. By submitting a request for approval, you
are certifying you have addressed County, statutory, and grant requirements.*

 Obtained 3 quotes for purchases under $77,250.00  (as applicable)
Purchase Order is included with Agreement 

Other:

Michele White

http://ffr.ohioauditor.gov/
WHITEM01
Typewritten text
Program Contract Specialist



Expiration Date:

B
I
L
L

T
O

Purchase Order

Fiscal Year

THIS NUMBER MUST APPEAR ON ALL INVOICES,
PACKAGES AND SHIPPING PAPERS.

Purchase Order #

Delivery must be made within doors of specified destination.

V
E
N
D
O
R

S
H
I
P

T
O

VENDOR PHONE NUMBER VENDOR FAX NUMBER REQUISITION NUMBER DELIVERY REFERENCE

DATE ORDERED VENDOR NUMBER DATE REQUIRED FREIGHT METHOD/TERMS DEPARTMENT/LOCATION

NOTES

ITEM # DESCRIPTION / PART # QTY UOM UNIT PRICE EXTENDED PRICE

Vendor Copy

Auditor Fairfield County, OH

JOB & FAMILY SERVICES
239 W MAIN STREET
LANCASTER, OH 43130
Phone: 740-652-7889

Revisions: 003

2025 Page: 1 of 1

25002233 - 03

12/15/2025

JOB & FAMILY SERVICES
239 W MAIN STREET
LANCASTER, OH 43130
Phone: 740-652-7889

FAMILY WELLNESS SOLUTIONS
760 LINDEN AVENUE
ZANESVILLE, OH 43701

740-819-6807 2412

01/09/2025 6528 JOB & FAMILY SERVICES

BOARD AND CARE

The Above Purchase Order Number Must Appear On All Correspondence - Packing Sheets And Bills Of Lading

1 EACH1.0 $51,351.00$51,351.00MODIFIED: BOARD AND CARE

Total Ext. Price $51,351.00

Total Sales Tax $0.00

Total Freight $0.00

Total Discount $0.00

Total Credit $0.00

Purchase Order Total $51,351.00

COUNTY AUDITOR’S CERTIFICATE

It is hereby certified that the amount $51,351.00 required to meet the contract, agreement, obligation, payment or
expenditure, for the above, has been lawfully appropriated, authorized or directed for such purpose and is in the
County Treasury or in process of collection to the credit of the submitted Fund(s) free from any obligation or
certification now outstanding.

Date: 01/09/2025



Prosecutor's Approval Page
Resolution No.  

A Resolution regarding an amendment for a previously approved Network 
Placement and Related Services Agreement between Family Wellness Solutions, Inc. and Child 
Protective Services Department. 

(Fairfield County Family and Children First Council)

Approved as to form on 8/21/2025 4:40:29 PM by Steven Darnell, 



Signature Page
Resolution No. 2025-08.26.i 

A Resolution regarding an amendment for a previously approved Network 
Placement and Related Services Agreement between Family Wellness Solutions, Inc. and Child 
Protective Services Department. 

(Fairfield County Job and Family Services)

This resolution has not yet been voted on.

CERTIFICATE OF CLERK
It is hereby certified that the foregoing is a true and correct transcript of a resolution acted 
upon by the Board of County Commissioners, Fairfield County, Ohio on the date noted above. 



A resolution to approve a memo exp./ memo receipt for the costs of 
Birth Certificates paid to Fairfield County Health Departments as a 
memo expenditure for fund# 2072 Public Children’s Services 

WHEREAS, FCJFS is responsible for paying the Health Department for their 
Birth Certificate costs; and

_________________________________________________________
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS, COUNTY OF FAIRFIELD, STATE OF OHIO:
_____________________________________________________

Section 1: That the Fairfield County Board of Commissioners approve the 
following memo receipt: 

71700300- 434410   Reimbursement - $32.00

This amount represents monies owed to the Health Department for FCJFS’s
costs paid to the Health Department as denoted in the attached
documentation.

Section 2: That the Fairfield County Board of Commissioners approves the 
following expenditure and requests that the Fairfield County Auditor 
accomplish the transaction as if a regular County Auditor warrant 
reimbursing the Health Department for FCJFS’s Birth Certificate costs. 

Memo expenditure as referenced below:

Vendor # 7482 Fairfield County Health Department

Account: 12207207-533000 Other Professional Services
Amount: $32.00

Prepared by: Brandi Downhour, Budget Manager

cc: Jamie Ehorn, Fairfield County Health Department 

2025-08.26.j2025-08.26.j



Signature Page
Resolution No. 2025-08.26.j 

A resolution to approve a memo exp./ memo receipt for the costs of Birth 
Certificates paid to Fairfield County Health Departments as a memo expenditure for fund# 2072 
Public Children’s Services. 

(Fairfield County Job and Family Services)

This resolution has not yet been voted on.

CERTIFICATE OF CLERK
It is hereby certified that the foregoing is a true and correct transcript of a resolution acted 
upon by the Board of County Commissioners, Fairfield County, Ohio on the date noted above. 



A resolution authorizing the approval of the Fairfield County 
Prevention, Retention and Contingency Plan (PRC Plan) between 
Fairfield County Job & Family Services and the Ohio Department of 
Job and Family Services. 

WHEREAS, Fairfield County Job & Family Services is requesting the Board of 
Commissioners approval of a service agreement with the Ohio Department of 
Job and Family Services, 30 E Broad Street, Columbus, OH 43215, and;

WHEREAS, Fairfield County Job and Family Services PRC Plan creates the 
authority for the county to deliver benefits and services to serve the residents 
of our community. Fairfield County Job and Family Services as determined 
amendments are necessary to serve the resides of our community more 
effectively. The Family Services Planning Committee has review and approved 
the Fairfield County Job and Family Services PRC Plan, and;

WHEREAS, this agreement shall be effective October 1st, 2025; and 

WHEREAS, the Prosecuting Attorney has approved the agreement as to form.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS, COUNTY OF FAIRFIELD, AND STATE OF OHIO:

Section 1. That the Fairfield County Board of Commissioners hereby approves 
the attached Fairfield County Prevention, Retention and Contingency Plan 
(PRC Plan) between Fairfield County Job and Family Services and the Ohio 
Department of Job and Family Services.

Prepared by: Brandi Downhour, JFS
cc: 

2025-08.26.k2025-08.26.k

































DOWNHB
Typewritten text
October 1, 2025

























Rev. 03-31-25
Eff. 04-09-25 to 12-31-25 

ROUTING FORM FOR CONTRACTS 

The undersigned designee of the County affirms that he/she has reviewed the attached contract to ensure that it 
complies with County’s needs and previous negotiations. The undersigned designee further affirms that the 
County has complied with the competitive selection process, as prescribed by Ohio Revised Code 9.17, and the 
applicable sections as outlined on this form, by selecting the applicable boxes below. 

A. 

B. 

C. 

D. 

E. 

F. 

Goods and/or Services in excess of $77,250.00—competitively selected via an Invitation to Bid, 
pursuant to R.C. 307.86-307.92 

Goods and/or Services in excess of $77,250.00—competitively selected via a Request for Proposals, 
pursuant to R.C. 307.862 

Public Improvement contracts—competitively selected pursuant to R.C. 153.08-153.12 

Architect/Engineer design services for public improvements—selected through the Request for 
Qualifications process pursuant to R.C. 153.65-153.72 

County Road Improvement/Construction—competitively selected pursuant to R.C. 5555.61 

The subject matter was exempt from competitive selection for the following reason(s): 

1. 
2. 
3. 
4. 
5. 
6. 
7. 

 Under $77,250.00 
 State Term #:      (copy of State Term Contract must be attached) 
 ODOT Term #:            (See R.C. 5513.01) 
 Professional Services (See the list of exempted occupations/services under R.C. 307.86)  
Emergency (Follow procedure under ORC 307.86(A)) 
 Sole Source (attach documentation as to why contract is sole source)    

 (cite to 
authority or explain why matter is exempt from competitive bidding) 

G. Agreement not subject to Sections A-F (explain):   

H. Compliance with Fairfield County Board of Commissioners Procurement Guidelines 

1.  No County employee, employee's family member, or employee's business associate has an 
interest in this contract OR such interest has been disclosed and reviewed by the Prosecutor's Office 

2.  No Finding for Recovery against Vendor as required under R.C. 9.24 (search via “Certified 
Search” on  http://ffr.ohioauditor.gov/) 

3. 
4. 

Signed this  day of   , 20       . 

Name and Title 

* Please note that this checklist only addresses County and statutory requirements.  If a contract is paid for
with state and/or federal funds, please consult with the appropriate state and/or federal agency to ensure
your department is complying with any additional requirements. By submitting a request for approval, you
are certifying you have addressed County, statutory, and grant requirements.*

 Obtained 3 quotes for purchases under $77,250.00  (as applicable) 
Purchase Order is included with Agreement 

Other:

5. Executed Ohio Law Acknowledgment Form (ORC 307.901)

http://ffr.ohioauditor.gov/
DOWNHB
Typewritten text
Brandi Downhour, Budget Manager



 

FAIRFIELD COUNTY FCFC EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEETING  
Friday, August 15th, 2025 

Ag Center, 831 College Ave Lancaster, Ohio 43130 
 

Minutes 
 

I. Welcome– Attendance 
Vice President, Health Department Health Commissioner, Joe Ebel; JFS Director, Corey Clark; Fairfield 
County Health Center CFO, Dan Fisher; County Commissioner, Dave Levacy; ADAMH Executive Director, 
Marcy Fields; JFS Deputy Director of Protective Services, Sarah Fortner, Lancaster-Fairfield Community 
Action Early Childhood Programs Director, Dana Hoff; Educational Service Center for Fairfield County 
Superintendent, Marie Ward, Fairfield County BDD Superintendent, Dr. David Uhl;  City of Lancaster 
Executive Assistant Major Designee, Shannon Seesholtz; FCFC Parent Representative Melissa Newman; 
County Commissioners, County Administrator, Aunie Cordle; Department of Youth Services Supervisor, 
Saroya Mulligan; Department of Youth Services Probation Officer, Lonya Tuff 
 

• FCFC and JFS Staff in attendance: FCFC Manger, Tiffany Wilson; JFS Assistant Director, Heather 
O’Keefe, FCFC EI Grant Manager, Laurie Clark 
 

• Welcome and introductions by Joe Ebel; a quorum was confirmed, and the meeting commenced 
at 8:32 am 

 
II. Review/Approval of June’s meeting minutes-  

• April’s meeting minutes were reviewed by members. Vice President, Health Department Health 
Commissioner, Joe Ebel 

 
• Motion to approve by Commissioner Dave Levacy; second on the motion by Sarah Fortner; the 

minutes were approved without objection. 
 

III. Fiscal Report-Tiffany Wilson, FCFC Manager 
 

• The fiscal report was reviewed by the members. 
 

• Tiffany – Updates to the committee included information regarding two accounts in April 
2025 (FCF/Fairfield County Foundation Grant & ODM Ohio Department of Medicaid) had credits 
added from purchase orders from the years 2021-2023 that were closed out. 

 
 



 

• Motion to approve by Dan Fisher; second on the motion by Corey Clark; the financial reports 
were approved without objection. 

 
 
IV. Family Services Planning Committee-Corey Clark, JFS Director  

 
• PRC Plan was sent out the partners. Changes that were made to Rent/Mortgage assistance 

program moved from one time per year to two times per year with a financial cap of $2000.00 
and they are now required to complete reporting to Ohio Benefits Department. There are 
various programs that they can apply for, but the cap is still $2000.00 

 
Motion to approve by David Uhl; second on the motion by Sarah Fortner; the motion to approve the 
amended changes to the PRC funds were approved without objection. 
Abstained: Commissioner Dave Levacy & Corey Clark 
 

V. Old Business: Tiffany Wilson, FCFC Manager 
 

• Strategic Planning  
 

o Tiffany Wilson shared that she presented to the Full Council and the Full Council 
attendees requested that a survey be sent out with question pertaining to the request of 
dues and what their organizations would be willing to contribute. 

o Marie Ward invited Tiffany to come back to the Superintendent’s meeting and share 
what FCFC is all about. Stating that this would be a good opportunity to inform that 
particular group of the supports that Council offers to their students and that this 
information will be helpful when asking for Executive Board Members for dues to t 
support the Council. Tiffany mentioned that she has been in discussions with Marvella 
Allen to arrange a time to speak with the new Superintendent of Pickerington Local 
Schools. Melissa Newman asked if people who were having trouble making this meeting 
could be offered a virtual option. Aunie Cordle reminded the Board that virtual options 
were available for special occasions, but these Executive Board meetings were to be 
held in person.  

o Tiffany Wilson requested that the Board hold off until the meeting/discussion with 
Pickerington Local Schools Superintendent could be had.  

o Corey Clark reminded the Board that he and Dave Levacy put together information 
about dues.  

o Heather O’Keefe agreed that Tiffany should put out a survey and we should wait until 
the survey has been completed by the Full Council and to make any decisions on dues   



 

o Marie Ward suggested that the survey be tied to a rationale to help with overall 
understand to those who are completing the survey. Afterward present the results to 
Executive Committee to review and then vote.  

o Aunie Cordle added that information about sustainability should be included in the 
rationale and what we are trying to accomplish i.e. (paying (this) amount to achieve 
(this). 

o Aunie Cordle asked what is the timeline for these dues? How often 
o Corey Clark stated that at the last meeting he spoke to the Board and presented the 

information regarding dues and the what that could look like for the mandatory 
($2500) and the statutory ($1500) members. $27,000 was total that the Executive 
Committee would bring in. Then we decided not to move forward until we have 
discussed this with Pickerington Schools. 

o Heather O’Keefe ask Shannon Seesholtz what she thought about the dues from a City 
of Lancaster perspective. Shannon stated that she would need to take this information 
back and have a more in-depth conversation. 

• Shared Plan  
 

o Tiffany Wilson reviewed all four shared priorities the new Shared Plan. Aunie Cordle 
suggested that the language in the second priority be amended to be less vague so 
that the document presents a clearer picture of what is intended. 

o When reviewing the third priority: Address gaps in access to in-county services for 
youth with developmental disabilities and significant behavioral challenges, Marie 
Ward suggested that the shared outcome be updated to reflect the shared priority 
issues better, which is an access to services issues rather than an out of county 
placement issue.  

o The Executive Board discussed this outcome further and it was decided amongst the 
members that the new suggested outcome for the third priority would be updated to 
increase the number of youth serviced and that the activities would reflect that 
outcome by relevant agencies working collaboratively to ensure an expansion to a 
number of programs and services options within the county.   

o Tiffany Wilson will update the document and send it out to the Board and State. Also 
noted is that this is a document that can be changed or update at any time. 
 

• Motion to approve by David Uhl; second on the motion by Sarah Fortner; the new Shared Plan was 
approved without objection. 

 
 
 



 

• Respite Committee Update 
 

• The respite committee has met; the two respite committees have combined. The committee 
has been working with Buckeye Ranch to partner for emergency respite. OhioRise came to 
the last meeting, and they have their own respite provider. FCFC/Respite will be providing 
support for non-Medicaid youth and OhioRise will provide for the Medicaid youth. 
 

VI. New Business: 
 

• Family and Children First Agreement, Ohio Department of Medicaid (ODM), Early 
Intervention  

 
o Contracts: New contracts have come out for Early Intervention and the State for MSY. 

Other FCFCs had issues with the new contracts due to the multiple changes that 
were made and not enough time to review them. A vote is needed by the Board for 
the FCFC Agreement. 

 
o It was decided by the board that going forward the Board will try to meet or send an 

email out  to the board around the time of year that the new agreements are being 
released so that the Board will be able to stay informed. The next agreements to be 
released will be July of 2027. 

 
VII. Manager Report-Tiffany Wilson FCFC Manager  

 
• MSY Data: 

o Currently Serving 40 youth, and their families.  
o One youth currently in residential. He comes back home on the 28th of this month. 
o Two youths awaiting placement (staff currently searching for placement).  For one of 

the youths, we have tried 23 different placement options but have been refused due 
to his unique medical and mental health needs. 

o Three youths are currently at high risk for residential. 
o One youth is enrolled in Intensive Home-Based Therapy (IHBT) through Home Remedy  
o Four youths are on the waiting list for IHBT with OG. Marcie shared that ADAMH will 

be changing providers from OhioGuidestone to Integrated Services for Behavioral 
Health because OGS lost a therapist and OGS is unsure if they will continue IHBT. 
 
 
 



 

 
• Residential Updates 

 
o See above 

 
• Other Program Updates 

 
o None 

 
VIII.  Parent Representative Update-Melissa Newman  

 
• No updates at this time. 

 
VIIII. Announcements-Executive Committee Members  
 

• Marie Ward shared that they now have two new autism units in Lithopolis for grades K & 2nd, 
also Collaborative efforts have been made in the county for young adults receiving services from 
CBDD/ESC to be supported in a redesigned transition program that allows these students to 
learning life skills and work experiences in their community with access to a remodeled 
classroom at the mall to support their learning. 

•  
Adjournment- Vice President, Health Department Health Commissioner, Joe Ebel 
 

• Motion to approve by Marie Ward; second on the motion by Sarah Fortner, Adjournment was 
approved without objection. 

 
 

Upcoming Meetings: 
Friday, October 17, 2025, 8:30 a.m., Executive Committee at Ag Center 
Friday, December 19, 2025, 8:30 a.m., Executive Committee at Ag Center 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



Prosecutor's Approval Page
Resolution No.  

A resolution authorizing the approval of the Fairfield County Prevention, Retention 
and Contingency Plan (PRC Plan) between Fairfield County Job & Family Services and 
the Ohio Department of Job and Family Services.  

(Fairfield County Job and Family Services)

Approved as to form on 8/21/2025 4:38:08 PM by Steven Darnell, 



Signature Page
Resolution No. 2025-08.26.k 

A resolution authorizing the approval of the Fairfield County Prevention, Retention 
and Contingency Plan (PRC Plan) between Fairfield County Job & Family Services and 
the Ohio Department of Job and Family Services.  

(Fairfield County Job and Family Services)

This resolution has not yet been voted on.

CERTIFICATE OF CLERK
It is hereby certified that the foregoing is a true and correct transcript of a resolution acted 
upon by the Board of County Commissioners, Fairfield County, Ohio on the date noted above. 



A resolution approving a Fund to Fund transfer from the Prosecutor’s 
Local Match Allocation to Fund 2784.
[Prosecutor Victim/Witness]

WHEREAS, unanticipated revenue will be collected for Fund 2784 Sub-Fund 
8321; and

WHEREAS, unanticipated funds represent a Federal grant for 2024/2025 
from Victims of Crime Act (VOCA) administered by the Ohio Attorney 
General, and

WHEREAS, monies will be used for salaries for the Prosecutor’s Victim 
Assistance staff to assist victims of felony crimes prosecuted by the 
Prosecutor’s Office; and

WHEREAS, it is necessary to transfer cash match and additional funds to 
match grant funding to be received in Grant Year 2024/2025; and

WHEREAS, a fund to fund transfer will allow proper accounting in the major 
expenditure object categories.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS, COUNTY OF FAIRFIELD, STATE OF OHIO:

Section 1.  That the transfer of funds by means of a fund to fund transfer in 
the amount of $10,000.00 is hereby authorized as follows:

From: 21100100 700213 Allocation – Prosecutor $10,000.00

To: 21829800 439120 Transfer in Cash Match $10,000.00

For Auditor’s Office Use Only:

Prepared by: Lynette Barnhart, Prosecutor’s Office
cc: Staci Knisley, Commissioners’ Office

2025-08.26.l2025-08.26.l



Signature Page
Resolution No. 2025-08.26.l 

A resolution approving a Fund to Fund transfer from the Prosecutor's Local Match 
Allocation to Fund 2784. 

(Fairfield County Prosecutor)

This resolution has not yet been voted on.

CERTIFICATE OF CLERK
It is hereby certified that the foregoing is a true and correct transcript of a resolution acted 
upon by the Board of County Commissioners, Fairfield County, Ohio on the date noted above. 



A Resolution Approving an Account-to-Account Transfer into a Major 
Expenditure Object Category –23100101, General Fund 

WHEREAS, appropriations are needed to cover expenses for 2025; and

WHEREAS, an account-to-account transfer will allow proper classification of 
major expenditure object categories.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS, COUNTY OF FAIRFIELD, STATE OF OHIO:

 
Section 1.  That the Fairfield County Board of Commissioners approves the 
transfer of appropriations into a major expenditure object category in the 
amount of $250,000.00 as follows:

From:  23100101 personal services
To:     23100101 contractual services

Prepared by: Mendi Rarey
cc: Sheriff

2025-08.26.m2025-08.26.m



Account-to-Account Transfer
For Auditor’s Office Use Only:

Total Transfer of Appropriations $250,000.00

From: 23100101, 511040, salary, deputies, detectives; $250,000.00
To: 23100101, 530000, contract services; $250,000.00



Signature Page
Resolution No. 2025-08.26.m 

A Resolution Approving an Account-to-Account Transfer into a Major Expenditure 
Object Category –23100101, General Fund  

(Fairfield County Sheriff)

This resolution has not yet been voted on.

CERTIFICATE OF CLERK
It is hereby certified that the foregoing is a true and correct transcript of a resolution acted 
upon by the Board of County Commissioners, Fairfield County, Ohio on the date noted above. 



A resolution authorizing the approval of payment of invoices for 
departments that need Board of Commissioners’ approval. 

WHEREAS, departments that need the Board of Commissioners’ approval 
for payment of their invoices have submitted their invoices to the County 
Auditor; and

WHEREAS, the County Auditor has submitted the cash disbursement journal 
for payment of invoices for the check date August 28, 2025.  

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS, FAIRFIELD COUNTY, STATE OF OHIO:

Section 1. That the Fairfield County Board of County Commissioners 
approves the attached cash disbursement journal. 
 

Prepared by: Auditor/Finance
cc: Finance Office

2025-08.26.n2025-08.26.n



FAIRFIELD COUNTY OHIO - INVOICES BY DEPARTMENT

Department

Check #
Check
Date Vend # Vendor Name Invoice #

Invoice 
Date PO # Warrant Line Item Description Amount

1200 - COMMISSIONERS ADMIN
FUND: 1001 - GENERAL FUND

5434793 8/28/2025 3720 LANC FF CO CHAMBER OF 
COMMERCE

51467 8/14/2025 391 C0826 ATHENA DINNER - CORDLE 65.00

1592175 8/28/2025 80132 AUNDREA N CORDLE 8/2025 8/1/2025 341 C0826 MONTHLY CELL PHONE STIPEND 8/2025 60.00

1592175 8/28/2025 80132 AUNDREA N CORDLE 8/9/25 8/9/2025 342 C0826 OPSB PUBLIC HEARING/LEVACY 
VIDEO/OJFSDA

188.30

1592176 8/28/2025 82133 JEFF PORTER 8/2025 8/1/2025 417 C0826 MONTHLY CELL PHONE STIPEND 8/2025 60.00

TOTAL: COMMISSIONERS ADMIN 373.30

8/21/2025 2:11 PM Page 1 of 4



FAIRFIELD COUNTY OHIO - INVOICES BY DEPARTMENT

Department

Check #
Check
Date Vend # Vendor Name Invoice #

Invoice 
Date PO # Warrant Line Item Description Amount

1204 - COMM HR
FUND: 5376 - SELF-FUNDED HEALTH INSURANCE

1592176 8/28/2025 82133 JEFF PORTER 8/13/25 8/13/2025 534 C0826 REIMBURSEMENT FOR ATTY REG FEES 2025-
2027

450.00

TOTAL: COMM HR 450.00

8/21/2025 2:11 PM Page 2 of 4



FAIRFIELD COUNTY OHIO - INVOICES BY DEPARTMENT

Department

Check #
Check
Date Vend # Vendor Name Invoice #

Invoice 
Date PO # Warrant Line Item Description Amount

1270 - COMM-MAINTENANCE
FUND: 3435 - PERMANENT IMPROVEMENT FUND

5434794 8/28/2025 8009 MCDANIEL'S CONSTRUCTION INC 2024.517.03 8/18/2025 24007954 C0826 Sheriff's Office - Security Fencing 170,779.87

5434794 8/28/2025 8009 MCDANIEL'S CONSTRUCTION INC 2024.517 03 8/18/2025 25003513 C0826 Sheriff - Security Fencing 8,741.64

TOTAL: COMM-MAINTENANCE 179,521.51

Summary Total for this report: 180,344.81

8/21/2025 2:11 PM Page 3 of 4



FAIRFIELD COUNTY OHIO - INVOICES BY DEPARTMENT - SUMMARY

Department Total Amount
1200 - COMMISSIONERS ADMIN $373.30

1204 - COMM HR $450.00

1270 - COMM-MAINTENANCE $179,521.51

Summary Total For This Report: $180,344.81

Commissioner Steven A. Davis

Commissioner Jeffery M Fix

Commissioner David L Levacy Date

8/21/2025 2:11 PM Page 4 of 4



Signature Page
Resolution No. 2025-08.26.n 

A resolution authorizing the approval of payment of invoices for departments that 
need Board of Commissioners’ approval.  

(Fairfield County Commissioners)

This resolution has not yet been voted on.

CERTIFICATE OF CLERK
It is hereby certified that the foregoing is a true and correct transcript of a resolution acted 
upon by the Board of County Commissioners, Fairfield County, Ohio on the date noted above. 


	Agenda-8/26/2025 3:00:00 PM
	59403.08.19.2025 Minutes
	2025-08.26.a-A resolution authorizing certifying Drainage Maintenance Districts to the Fairfield County Auditor’s Office.
	59411.DMD Documentation 1 of 6
	59412.DMD Documentation 2 of 6
	59416.DMD Documentation 6 of 6
	59415.DMD Documentation 5 of 6
	59414.DMD Documentation 4 of 6
	59413.DMD Documentation 3 of 6
	Resolution-2025-08.26.a-signature

	2025-08.26.b-A Resolution Approving an Account-to-Account Transfer into a Major Expenditure Object Category –1001 – General Fund - Auditor 
	59367.Account to Account Major Category
	Resolution-2025-08.26.b-signature

	2025-08.26.c-A Resolution Approving an Account-to-Account Transfer into a Major Expenditure Object Category –2060, FCBDD 
	59370.Support Doc-Account-to-Account Transfer
	Resolution-2025-08.26.c-signature

	2025-08.26.d-A Resolution to Appropriate from Unappropriated in a Major Expenditure Object Category for Fairfield County Board of DD; Fund #2060, FCBDD


	59372.Supporting Documentation for Approp from Unapprop
	Resolution-2025-08.26.d-signature

	2025-08.26.e-A resolution to appropriate from unappropriated in a major expenditure object category for Fund #2861 Cyber Security Secretary of State- Board of Elections
	59333.08.26.25 BOE supporting doc
	Resolution-2025-08.26.e-signature

	2025-08.26.f-A resolution to change bridge load ratings.
	59363.Bridge Load Rating Exhibits LIB-12 LIB-29 VIO-32 WAL-47
	Resolution-2025-08.26.f-signature

	2025-08.26.g-A Resolution to Approve the Contract Bid Award for the Payment Drive-Thru Renovation Project with Buena Environmental, LLC.
	59353.A Contract Routing Form (Rev. 2024.12.30)_
	59354.AOSFFRCertificationSearch_8_5_2025_9_1_28
	59356.SIGNED-General Services Agreement_BELLC_reduced size
	59355.PO#_25005888_2025_3DC
	59396.ProsecutorSignatureSheet
	Resolution-2025-08.26.g-signature

	2025-08.26.h-A resolution to request for appropriations for Fund #7521 Family and Children First Council (FCFC). 
	59394.For Auditor
	59395.DCY-G-2627-0374 - Early Intervention Service Coordination - Fairfield Co. Commissioners
	Resolution-2025-08.26.h-signature

	2025-08.26.i-A Resolution regarding an amendment for a previously approved Network Placement and Related Services Agreement between Family Wellness Solutions, Inc. and Child Protective Services Department.
	59378.Family Wellness-Addendum-Signed
	59379.Family Wellness Solutions-Routing form-Addendum
	59380.Family Wellness-PO 25002233-03
	59385.ProsecutorSignatureSheet
	Resolution-2025-08.26.i-signature

	2025-08.26.j-A resolution to approve a memo exp./ memo receipt for the costs of Birth Certificates paid to Fairfield County Health Departments as a memo expenditure for fund# 2072 Public Children’s Services.
	Resolution-2025-08.26.j-signature

	2025-08.26.k-A resolution authorizing the approval of the Fairfield County Prevention, Retention and Contingency Plan (PRC Plan) between Fairfield County Job & Family Services and the Ohio Department of Job and Family Services. 
	59374.1637_001
	59375.A Contract Routing Form (Rev.03-31-25)
	59376.Executive Committee 8.15.25 Minutes
	59383.ProsecutorSignatureSheet
	Resolution-2025-08.26.k-signature

	2025-08.26.l-A resolution approving a Fund to Fund transfer from the Prosecutor's Local Match Allocation to Fund 2784.
	Resolution-2025-08.26.l-signature

	2025-08.26.m-A Resolution Approving an Account-to-Account Transfer into a Major Expenditure Object Category –23100101, General Fund 
	59360.Support Doc-Account-to-Account 1001
	Resolution-2025-08.26.m-signature

	2025-08.26.n-A resolution authorizing the approval of payment of invoices for departments that need Board of Commissioners’ approval. 
	59382.C0826
	Resolution-2025-08.26.n-signature



	Goods andor Services in excess of 5000000competitively selected via an Invitation to Bid pursuant: On
	Goods andor Services in excess of 5000000competitively selected via a Request for Proposals: Off
	Public Improvement contractscompetitively selected pursuant to RC 1530815312: Off
	ArchitectEngineer design services for public improvementsselected through the Request for: Off
	County Road ImprovementConstructioncompetitively selected pursuant to RC 555561: Off
	The subject matter was exempt from competitive selection for the following reasons: Off
	Agreement not subject to Sections AF explain: Off
	Compliance with Fairfield County Board of Commissioners Procurement Guidelines: On
	Under 50000: Off
	State Term: Off
	ODOT Term: Off
	Professional Services See RC 30786: Off
	Emergency Follow procedure under ORC 30786A: Off
	Sole Source attach documentation as to why contract is sole source: Off
	Other: Off
	copy of State Term Contract must be attached: 
	See RC 551301: 
	cite to: 
	authority or explain why matter is exempt from competitive bidding: 
	No County employee employees family member or employees business associate has an: On
	No Finding for Recovery against Vendor as required under RC 924 search via Certified: On
	Obtained 3 quotes for purchases under 50000: Off
	Purchase Order is included with Agreement: On
	Signed this: 5th 
	day of: August 
	20: 25
		2025-08-13T18:29:48+0000
	Client IP: 66.145.60.35, Transaction ID: wEcF-qtGWDK9GtDJJmL3fUyWig8=
	OneSpan
	E-SIGNED by Matthew Cunningham (matthew.cunningham@childrenandyouth.ohio.gov), ID: 3da66617-0ad5-42ab-b9a5-f6b0a4adbf95


	BcfoUpNO0A4O_XjA3sWmlN18S: Aundrea Cordle
	BcfoUpNO0A4O_sf32IeUrUgE6: 2025-08-14 21:11:14
		2025-08-15T02:11:17+0000
	Client IP: 206.82.182.147, Transaction ID: wEcF-qtGWDK9GtDJJmL3fUyWig8=
	OneSpan
	E-SIGNED by Aundrea Cordle (aundrea.cordle@fairfieldcountyohio.gov), ID: 64c37187-d426-4ba7-ad72-7326fe8c8417


	tsA6qhsS5L0T_tvaT7KFvP3sN: 2025-08-18 08:21:47
		2025-08-18T13:21:49+0000
	Client IP: 66.145.60.35, Transaction ID: wEcF-qtGWDK9GtDJJmL3fUyWig8=
	OneSpan
	E-SIGNED by Kara B Wente (jeffery.vandeusen@childrenandyouth.ohio.gov), ID: 0098335e-32c7-473e-a9b4-ac894a2da699


	Goods andor Services in excess of 5000000competitively selected via an Invitation to Bid pursuant: Off
	Goods andor Services in excess of 5000000competitively selected via a Request for Proposals: Off
	Public Improvement contractscompetitively selected pursuant to RC 1530815312: Off
	ArchitectEngineer design services for public improvementsselected through the Request for: Off
	County Road ImprovementConstructioncompetitively selected pursuant to RC 555561: Off
	The subject matter was exempt from competitive selection for the following reasons: Off
	Agreement not subject to Sections AF explain: On
	Compliance with Fairfield County Board of Commissioners Procurement Guidelines: On
	Under 50000: Off
	State Term: Off
	ODOT Term: Off
	Professional Services See RC 30786: Off
	Emergency Follow procedure under ORC 30786A: Off
	Sole Source attach documentation as to why contract is sole source: Off
	Other: Off
	copy of State Term Contract must be attached: 
	See RC 551301: 
	cite to: 
	authority or explain why matter is exempt from competitive bidding: State License Network Facility
	No County employee employees family member or employees business associate has an: On
	No Finding for Recovery against Vendor as required under RC 924 search via Certified: On
	Obtained 3 quotes for purchases under 50000: Off
	Purchase Order is included with Agreement: On
	Signed this: 14th
	day of: August
	20: 25
	Goods andor Services in excess of 5000000competitively selected via an Invitation to Bid pursuant: Off
	Goods andor Services in excess of 5000000competitively selected via a Request for Proposals: Off
	Public Improvement contractscompetitively selected pursuant to RC 1530815312: Off
	ArchitectEngineer design services for public improvementsselected through the Request for: Off
	County Road ImprovementConstructioncompetitively selected pursuant to RC 555561: Off
	The subject matter was exempt from competitive selection for the following reasons: Off
	Agreement not subject to Sections AF explain: On
	Compliance with Fairfield County Board of Commissioners Procurement Guidelines: On
	Under 50000: Off
	State Term: Off
	ODOT Term: Off
	Professional Services See RC 30786: Off
	Emergency Follow procedure under ORC 30786A: Off
	Sole Source attach documentation as to why contract is sole source: Off
	Other: Off
	copy of State Term Contract must be attached: 
	See RC 551301: 
	cite to: t
	authority or explain why matter is exempt from competitive bidding: This is an MOU for an allocation JFS will receive for a specific program.
	No County employee employees family member or employees business associate has an: On
	No Finding for Recovery against Vendor as required under RC 924 search via Certified: On
	Obtained 3 quotes for purchases under 50000: Off
	Signed this: 21st
	day of: August
	20: 25
	Purchase Order is included with Agreement: Off
	Check Box1: Off
	Ohio Law: Off


